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Troy has a strong commitment to health & safety, environmental stewardship and

social responsibility. 

Total production from Troy’s operations has consistently grown to over 100,000

ounces of gold per annum. Production for FY 2007 was 105,700oz at a cash cost of

A$330/oz. 

The Company is positioned for growth. Our vision is to reposition Troy as a growing

highly profitable mid-tier gold producer which operates multiple high margin

mines, with over 10 years life, in prospective exploration districts.

The Company’s near-term strategic goal is to replace and grow its reserves through

near mine site exploration at its operations, secure a quality development or

operating project that will give it a 10-year production horizon, extend the Reserves

and Resources at our recently acquired Andorinhas Project in Brazil and continue to

build the team that will achieve our vision. 

Troy will continue its path of strong growth and profitable operations. The Company

maintains a robust balance sheet and our existing mines will continue to generate

strong cash flow. Troy’s gold production is unhedged providing 100 percent of the

gold price upside to shareholders while protecting against downside risk with low

operating costs. 

C O R P O R A T E  P R O F I L E

Troy is a highly profitable 

junior gold producer with 

operations at Sandstone 

in Western Australia 

and in Brazil. 

The Company has a 

proven record of 

fast-track mine 

development,

low cost operations, 

accretive acquisitions 

and exploration 

discovery. 

Folded Banded Iron Formation Mt Klemptz - Sandstone, Western Australia

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Page 2

H I G H L I G H T S

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

One operating gold mine in Australia and a developing mine in Brazil with extensive exploration properties.

Operations

Over 105,000oz gold 

produced at a cash cost 

of A$330/oz

Started development 

at Andorinhas in Brazil

Growth

Over $7M in exploration

expenditure

Purchased Andorinhas

Project in Brazil for

US$10.2m

Purchased a 16.7%

shareholding in 

Comaplex Minerals Corp

for A$27m

HSE & Community

No reportable safety or

environmental incidents

First Aid facility

established 

at Antena site, Brazil

Continued support of 

St John Ambulance 

sub centre in Sandstone

Financial

Record full year after tax

profit of $20.1M

Over $95M in cash 

and equivalents

7.5c per share 

fully franked dividend

Bonus share issue 

of 1 for 25

View from Antenna Ridge, SML Project, Brazil
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T H R E E  Y E A R  S U M M A R Y

12 Months to 12 Months to 12 Months to

Operations 30 June 2007 30 June 2006 30 June 2005

Gold Produced (Ounces) 105,723 110,263 71,851 

Gold Price Realised ($/oz) 802 687 563 

Sales Revenue ($ million) 92 86 55 

Profit before tax (extraordinary) ($ million) 28.8 32 15 

Net Profit after tax (attributable) 
to members of the company ($ million) 20 16 8 

Capital Expenditure ($ million) 4 7 5

Exploration Expenditure ($ million) 7 8 7 

Dividends paid (cents /share) 7.5 7.00 6.5 

Cash & Equivalents ($ million) 96.8 50.5 34.5

Sandstone Processing Plant, Western Australia
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RECORD PROFIT

The past year has been an important transition for our Company. Following a record

successful year in 2006, we delivered a further 26% increase in net profit to

$20,100,000 (2006: $15,956,000) in the twelve months to June 30 2007. The

Company declared a final dividend of 7.5 cents per share, fully franked (2006: 7.0

cents per share), which was our eighth successive increase. Earnings per share

increased 19.8% over the period to 34.5 cents (2006: 28.8 cents). The Company also

remains in a strong financial position with almost $100 million in cash and liquid

investments to facilitate the financing of new acquisitions, carries no debt and is

free of any hedging obligations. 

SOLID OPERATING PERFORMANCE

Annual gold production of 105,723 ounces (2006: 110,263 ounces) was above

budget (100,000 ounces), with gold sold during the year generating an average

margin of A$472 per ounce against production cash costs of A$330 per ounce

(US$280).

An important strategic acquisition for us this year was the planned 50,000 ounce per

annum Andorinhas Gold Project in the Para State of northern central Brazil.

Andorinhas, with an initial Reserve of 255,980 contained ounces of gold, is part of

an expanded JORC resource of 435,000 ounces. This project further leverages our

capabilities in Brazil and will expand our production footprint in the region and

bringing Andorinhas into production on time and on budget will be an important

milestone for us in the 2008 year. 

Exploration around the Andorinhas project area will be a major focus for the

Company in the next year. In particular, Lagoa Seca offers significant upside to

expand our current resource base.

Milling at Sertão ceased in August 2007 and the mill is being dismantled and

relocated to Andorinhas in the latter part of calendar 2007.

In addition to Andorinhas, our other Brazilian exploration project areas offer

exciting development potential. 

Our Sandstone operations in Western Australia continue to be profitable. Sustained

strength in the gold price provides considerable scope for further evaluation of the

resource potential of satellite deposits in the Sandstone area that will offset

declining production volumes from the Lord Nelson and Lord Henry mines.

STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

Our investments in gold projects in Ghana, through our 8% interest in Canadian

gold miner Birim Goldfields Inc. and in Canada, via a 16.6% stake in Comaplex

Minerals Corp., which holds a 78% interest in the Meliadine West gold project and

50% in the Meliadine East gold project, provide attractive alternative growth

options for the Company.

Our 17% investment in ASX-listed Adelaide Resources also gives exposure to the

excellent mineral sands and uranium opportunities unfolding in South Australia’s

Eucla Basin.

C H A I R M A N ’ S  R E V I E W  

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Lord Henry Pit - Sandstone, Western Australia
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ACTIVE EXPLORATION PROGRAM

Our Company now holds significant land positions in Australia, Brazil and Mongolia

with an active exploration program and planned budget this financial year of 

$7 million. 

In addition to brownfields exploration around Sandstone, work continued at our

Gutain Davaa Gold Prospect in Mongolia during the year with an extensive

mapping and sampling program completed that will be used for drill target

generation later in 2007.

In February 2007, we signed a 3 year joint venture deal with Rio Tinto to explore

Troy’s Dornogovi coal project in southeast Mongolia. This will see Troy free-carried

through the project ahead of any development decision.

FUTURE PLANS

2007 was a year of transition; however we met some important milestones. We

produced more than 100,000 ounces of gold, whilst maintaining a robust balance

sheet that provides the Company with enormous flexibility in the pursuit of future

growth opportunities.

Troy has become a truly international and profitable resources company; producing

gold in Western Australia and Brazil and exploring for gold and base metals in

Australia, South America and Mongolia. Your Board remains committed to pursuing

growth through exploration and acquisition of new projects.

Global demand for gold remains strong and we remain focused on our goal of

successfully increasing resources at our current projects and the targeting of a

million-ounce plus gold orebody capable of sustaining production of at least

100,000 ounces per year for 10 years.

Looking ahead, it is clear the current year will be very busy for us. Gold production

from Sandstone and Brazil for the coming year is forecast to be down on 2007 with

limited production out of Brazil in the first half of the year; however the addition of

Andorinhas is a major part of our growth strategy in maintaining Troy as a profitable

gold company.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank Troy shareholders for their

continued support of the company and our employees, in particular outgoing CEO

Tommy McKeith, Director of Operations, Ken Nilsson, Chief Financial Officer, Gerry

Kaczmarek, contractors and consultants whose professional commitment has

contributed to a very successful year and continues to built a solid platform for our

future growth.

JOHN L.C. JONES

Chairman

RAB Drilling Site - Babacu, Andorinhas, Brazil
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Dear Shareholders

2007 was a very active year for Troy. We achieved several all time highs including a

record net profit after tax of $20.1 million, from record revenue of $91.8 million

resulting in a record cash and liquid investment balance of $96.8 million at year-end,

and, a record group gold resource of 1.1Moz. The record results are even more

remarkable considering the significant investments completed this year including

$12.7 million to acquire the Andorinhas Project in Brazil and the $27.0 million

acquisition of a strategic equity stake in Comaplex Minerals Corp.

Our record financial results came from a strong operational performance where we

produced 105,723oz of gold at a cash cost $330/oz exceeding our forecast. This

production, aided by a strong gold price, resulted in an operating margin of

$472/oz – the benefit of being totally unhedged. Critically, we achieved this

production result without a serious accident or environmental incident. 

In the 2006 annual report I said that the biggest challenge facing Troy was reserve

life. This is still the case however with the construction of the Andorinhas Mine,

which has an initial reserve of 255,980oz and scheduled first production in January

2008, we are confident that we will be able to grow and develop this gold reserve

well into the next decade. At Andorinhas there is promising potential to both

extend the known resources and to find new resources in close proximity to our mill

site. We invested over $7.4 million in exploration this year with the majority

dedicated to our Sandstone and Sertão tenements and our extensive Mongolian

properties. Going forward the Andorinhas area will become an exploration focus. 

The investments in Comaplex Minerals and Birim Goldfields provide Troy with

interesting alternative options for growth. Troy plans to dual-list its shares on the

Toronto Stock Exchange to both access the largest and most liquid mining related

capital market and increase the scope of opportunities available to rapidly grow the

company.

Troy has taken great strides in its transformation to a profitable mid-tier producer

and is well positioned for growth. Troy has an excellent track record of mine

delivery, a robust balance sheet and the people to continue to build a portfolio of

profitable long-life assets.

OPERATIONS:

In Australia, the Sandstone Operation produced 90,456oz from the treatment of

530,544t @ 5.62g/t where mining was focused at the Lord Nelson and Henry pits.

Mining is progressing well ahead of processing with significant ore stockpiles

accumulated. It is anticipated that mining at the two Lords pits will be completed

before the end of calendar 2007 and our milling operations will continue for an

additional two years. 

In Brazil, the SML JV produced 21,810oz from the treatment of 209,474t @ 3.67g/t

for 15,267oz attributable to Troy. Mining and processing by the SML JV was

completed during August 2007 and over its life delivered 280,144oz at an overall

grade of 16.7g/t. Troy purchased the process plant from the joint venture partners

in September 2007 and now owns the facility 100%. The infrastructure is being

dismantled and transported to our 100% owned Andorinhas Project where it will be

re-assembled. 

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

“Troy has taken great strides 

in its transformation 

to a profitable mid-tier 

producer and is well 

positioned for growth.

Troy has an excellent 

track record of mine delivery, 

a robust balance sheet 

and the people to 

continue to build 

a portfolio of profitable 

long-life assets.”

C E O ’ S  R E P O R T

Sertão Pit, SML Project, Brazil
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At the Andorinhas Project ore mining at Lagoa Seca has commenced and plant

construction is progressing well. We are confident that Andorinhas, the sixth mine

to be built by Troy, will be in production early in calendar 2008 

GROWTH:

Troy’s strategy of consolidating tenements around our operations to leverage the

discovery potential will continue to deliver value. We have a consolidated tenement

position around Sandstone, covering the entire greenstone belt, and a very large

consolidated land position at Andorinhas. The majority of this year’s $7.4 million

exploration spend was around Sandstone and on our greenfields Mongolian

Properties. Going forward the exploration budget will focus on the Andorinhas and

Sandstone exploration programmes. Our exploration teams are committed to

discovery and are using all the modern exploration methods available today. We are

confident that this commitment will lead to further discovery and therefore

increased resources and reserves.

At Sandstone, a re-focussing of our efforts has highlighted a number of new targets

with potential that will be aggressively drilled. We are working hard to discover new

resource positions that will allow us to continue producing gold at Sandstone for

many more years. Also, advances in our geological understanding of nickel

deposits have increased the nickel exploration potential at Sandstone. We will

develop a strategy to unlock this potential in the near future. 

We believe the Andorinhas Project has significant exploration potential – both

along strike and at depth from known ore positions, and, for totally new resource

positions. Infill drilling at Lagoa Seca confirmed the grade and continuity within the

open pit mineable resource with significant intersections including 31m @ 10.9g/t,

6m @ 11.8g/t, 28m @ 4.7g/t and 25m @ 4.2g/t. Initial RAB drilling to the southwest

of the open pit resource has outlined the possible strike extension with significant

mineralisation intersected including 8m @ 3.3g/t and 8m @ 3.2g/t. Troy will

complete an aeromagnetic survey over its entire Andorinhas property which will

significantly improve our understanding of the geology and hopefully assist with the

discovery of new resource positions. 

In Mongolia, Troy continues to generate new opportunities. We were extremely

pleased to announce that our Dornogovi coal project was joint ventured to Rio

Tinto. Rio Tinto has started working on this very large tenement position which is

well located astride the railway line between Ulaanbaatar and China and should

begin drilling this calendar year.

Our greenfields exploration portfolio will continue to be assessed and upgraded.

The portfolio will be re-positioned to provide a project pipeline to our developing

strategy. We will acquire exploration properties that have the capacity to deliver

large quality projects consistent with our vision.

Our vision is to reposition Troy as a successful mid-tier producer which will operate

multiple high margin mines with over 10 years life and within prospective

exploration districts. This will be achieved by exploration discovery and acquisition

of development or production assets. Troy has a robust balance sheet capable of

supporting a significant acquisition or project development far larger than the

projects we operate today. Our M & A activity will be disciplined and will always be

measured by its affect per share therefore always adding value for our shareholders.

We are excited by this opportunity and motivated to take Troy to the next level. Sandstone Operations, Western Australia
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HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT: 

Troy is committed to the highest level of performance in employee health and safety, environmental protection and sustainability.

Happily the company continues to enjoy a good safety record with no major incidents reported during the year. 

Troy’s environmental performance remains at a satisfactory level with no reportable incidents. Rehabilitation is ongoing at our

mine sites and the closure plan at Sertão is well in hand. 

We recognise that to operate profitably we need the support of the community in which we are working. This commitment to the

local community begins with our exploration teams who engage local groups, maintain a dialogue with the local stake holders

and where possible invest in the local community through purchase of supplies and contract work. Troy enjoys great community

support at our minesites in Brazil and here in Australia. We recognise, that in order to get the community support we enjoy, we

need to make a difference to the sustainable standard of living in these communities. 

MANAGEMENT:

Troy continues its transition in leadership and in the year ahead we will continue to reposition Troy as a profitable mid-tier

producer. I announced my resignation at the end of the year – to pursue other opportunities. I will remain as a non-executive

director to assist by providing continuity of the strategic direction already in place. Troy has appointed my successor, Paul Benson,

who I am confident will continue to transform Troy into a very successful and profitable mid-tier producer. Paul has my total

support and best wishes going forward. 

Our executive group including Ken Nilsson (Operations Director), Gerry Kaczmarek (Chief Financial Officer) and Peter Doyle (VP

Exploration and New Business) were the architects of the record results achieved this year. I would personally like to thank each

of these individuals for their support, extreme dedication and value-add. Special mention is required for Ken Nilsson and his team

in Brazil which is an exceptional group and demonstrates Troy’s ability to fast-track mine development. 

OBJECTIVES/OUTLOOK: 

Our production objective for 2007 was to produce 100,000oz. We achieved this objective comfortably.

Planned production for 2008 is 60,000oz down on last year due largely to the hiatus in gold production in Brazil as we move our

mill from Sertão to Andorinhas. Our growth objective is to replace and increase our reserve position, complete the leadership

and management transition and focus and execute our business strategy consistent with our vision. Achieving these objectives

will ensure we continue to add significant value for our shareholders. 

Lastly, I would like to thank all the employees for their dedication and to congratulate them on their contribution to this record

year. Also, I would personally like to thank the Chairman, John Jones, for his support and guidance and I look forward to being

part of Troy’s success as a non-executive director.

TOMMY D McKEITH

CEO

C E O ’ S  R E P O R T

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  
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Sandstone Processing Plant, Western Australia
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

AUSTRALIA

SANDSTONE OPERATIONS

(TROY 100%)

The Lord Henry and Lord Nelson orebodies are located approximately 30km south-

west of the Sandstone treatment plant. The deposits occur approximately 3km

apart along the north-south trending Trafalgar Shear Zone located in the south-west

corner of the “Sandstone Greenstone Belt”. During the year mining continued at

these two deposits with 1,093,883 bcm of material mined from the Lord Nelson pit

including 530,624 tonnes of ore grading 5.61 g/t Au and 278,066 bcm of material

from the Lord Henry pit including 122,888 tonnes of ore grading 3.93 g/t Au.

Permission to de-water the Lord Henry pit was finally obtained in March 2007 from

the Department of Environment and Conservation. The mining of Lord Henry re

commenced once the floor was pumped dry.

During the year, the AMMS group was engaged to conduct an audit and establish

a programme to refurbish and repair parts of the treatment plant. A programme 

to refurbish some of the CIL tanks was undertaken and a regular planned 

shutdown regime was put in place. An additional refurbished stripping plant was

installed and commissioned at the start of the financial year to cope with the

increased gold production. A new mobile impact crusher is currently being trialled

to assist in mill throughput.

The Sandstone mill treated 530,544 tonnes of ore at 5.615 g/t to yield 90,455 ounces

of gold during the year. Mill throughput was reduced because of the increased

hardness of the Nelson ore and unscheduled repairs to the ball mill and two 

SAG mills.

M I N I N G

Drilling Operations, Lord Nelson Pit, 
Sandstone, Western Australia Sandstone Plant Flowsheet
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SUSTAINABILITY

Troy continues to support the St John

Ambulance sub-centre in Sandstone,

a large number of the volunteers are

Troy employees. The company has

also had a continuous programme of

training its employees and

contractors in senior first aid and

advanced resuscitation courses. A

new safety and training room was

constructed and is used for training

and inductions. The safety

organisation IFAP completed its

safety audit on the Sandstone

operation and a Site Management

Plan system is currently being

implemented. An Employee

Assistance Programme was

introduced for Troy employees and

their families to assist them with any

stress related issues.

Crane and forklift training was also

carried out for the mill and

maintenance departments and

discussions were held with

consultants to undertake site ‘mine

rescue’ and fire fighting training.

An environmental review and audit

was conducted by Keith Lindbeck and

Associates during the year and the

recommendations together with a

mine closure plan is currently being

compiled for the Sandstone

Operations.

Sandstone Operations, Western Australia
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BRAZIL

SML OPERATIONS

(TROY 70% AND MANAGER THROUGH SERTÃO MINERAÇÃO LTDA, “SML”)

The SML operations continued during the year treating ore delivered from the Antena cluster ore deposits. The ore from these

deposits was of a lower tenor than Sertão and contained a higher percentage of sulphides with refractory material which affected

recovery. However, this was known and budgets were adjusted accordingly for the year.

Actual gold production was above budget after treating 212,234 tonnes of ore at an average grade of 3.66 g/t Au with a

metallurgical recovery of 88.2% for the year.

The mining operations performed well during the year under the guidance of Juliano Lima, Senior Mine Geologist and Toniolo

Busnello, primary contractor. Three different ore bodies were mined during the year in difficult terrain and with a haulage distance

of 22-25km to the processing plant. Waste material mined was partly used to backfill previously mined areas producing a better

base for rehabilitation which was carried out progressively over the year. The haulage road constructed by the Company required

little maintenance during the year and is now providing a much enhanced travel route for local farmers to their properties. 

The processing plant also performed well during the year with only minor performance problems causing some down time and

plant availability was in line with budget for the year. The plant was modified by the installation of a pre-leach tank to counter

some of the problems with sulphide ore with oxygen used part of the year to accelerate oxidation. 

Tailings disposal was altered from the earlier use of filtered tailings to a more conventional tailings dam system with the 

dam constructed within parts of the completed pit and thus not impacting on the environment. Numerous improvements were

made to operations by altering work procedures to maximize efficiency. Mining personnel numbers remained steady during the year. 

DEVELOPMENT

The Andorinhas Project was acquired in December 2006 from Agincourt Resources for $12.7 million. The acquisition cost was less

than $30 per ounce of resource at the lower end of comparable transactions. Since acquiring the project Troy completed a mining

study, obtained all the necessary permits to build and operate the mine, completed sterilisation drilling for the mine

infrastructure, completed the open pit pre-strip and started open pit ore mining at Lagoa Seca, and, completed the construction

of the ramp to the Mamao underground workings. Plant construction is progressing well with most of the civil works complete

and plant assembly underway. We are confident that Andorinhas, the sixth mine to be built by Troy, will be in production early in

calendar 2008.

Page 12

M I N I N G

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Lagoa Seca Open Pit Operations, Andronihas, Brazil
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SUSTAINABILITY

The safety performance for the operation continued to be of a high level with only

2 Lost Time Injuries of a short term nature recorded for the year. 

Overall performance was good in terms of incident reporting, accident prevention

and general safety training. 

As in previous years, the First Aid station continued treating off-site injuries,

providing general health advice and inoculation against influenza on a regular

basis. Manning of the First Aid Station continued on a daily basis 12 hours per day

7 days per week. A separate First Aid facility was established at the Antena site.

Assistance was also given to schools in terms of first aid and health education.

During the year the Company also arranged for a special trauma clinic to be held in

Goiás Velho. This was attended by nurses, doctors and emergency personnel.

SML’s environmental performance continued to enjoy an incident free year,

retaining a good performance meeting obligatory reporting requirements and test

results from environmental sampling. Rehabilitation of mine areas is an ongoing

activity and re-growth is progressing well. The Company established a second plant

nursery specifically for the Antena area.

Rehabilitation in the Xupe area, Brazil

Following the closure of the Sertão operation, monitoring of the rehabilitated areas

will continue for a period of 2 years to protect plant growth and ensure a satisfactory

outcome.

During the year, the Company concluded all outstanding social assistance projects

and the intensive care unit at Sao Pedro was officially opened. SML provided all

equipment and some fixtures for this unit which provides 2 levels of intensive care

with a total of 8 beds.

During its operation, SML has provided 2 schools, 1 microbiological laboratory for

the Faina Hospital, the intensive care unit in Goiás and numerous smaller projects

to assist with emergency services, education and health in the region.

Lagoa Seca Pit Operations, Andorinhas, Brazil Mill Operations, SML Project, Brazil
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E X P L O R A T I O N

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Geological Mapping in Gobi Region, Mongolia

Lago Seca Pit, Andorinhas, Brazil

Rock Chip Sampling, Brazil

RAB Drilling, Sandstone, Western AustraliaExamination of RAB Drill Samples, Sandstone, Western Australia
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EXPLORATION - GLOBAL

During 2006-2007 Troy’s exploration

focus was on evaluation of the

tenement positions around the

Sandstone Mine in Western Australia,

the SML operations in Goias State and

later in the year at the Andorinhas

Project in Para State Brazil. The main

focus of Troy’s early stage, greenfields

exploration effort was in Mongolia. The

company continued its aggressive

exploration drilling program with a total

of 69,385m drilled. A significant amount

of this total was drilled at Sandstone in

Western Australia and at the SML

project in Brazil. Drilling also took place

at Andorinhas in Brazil, Gutain Davaa

and Altanshiree in Mongolia as well as

at Oijärvi in Finland. 

A number of projects were dropped

during the 2006-2007 including Rio

Piranga in Brazil, Blackman’s Joint

Venture “JV”, Bronco Plains JV and the

Trojan JV in Western Australia while the

company acquired the Andorinhas

Project in Brazil and two new “drill

stage” projects in Mongolia. 

Colluvial Iron Ore Sample - Babacu Zone - Andorinhas, Brazil

Troy Global Exploration Project Portfolio
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WESTERN AUSTRALIA

SANDSTONE PROJECT 

(Troy 100%)

Gold exploration in the Sandstone region remains the number one exploration

priority in Australia. The Company has consolidated its tenement position around

the Sandstone mining operations and holds tenements covering approximately

1,300 square kilometres of the Sandstone Greenstone Belt “SGB”. Since late 1998,

Troy has conducted a gold focused regional exploration at Sandstone that included

aeromagnetic surveys and interpretation for the SGB ground geophysical surveys

(Magnetics, Gravity and IP) and surface sampling (soil and rock chip grab) to identify

and rank prospects for drill testing. 

Drilling is conducted as phased programs, with initial testing using Rotary Air Blast

“RAB” and Air-core “AC” drilling followed by Reverse Circulation “RC” and

Diamond Core “DC” drilling. 

During 2006 – 2007, Troy drilled 38,045m (859 holes) including 769 RAB holes for

32,582m, 82 Air-core holes for 5078m and 8 RC holes for 385m.

The regional program includes the testing of possible extensions of the known

deposits as well as development of new empirical and conceptual targets.

Exploration is carried out in staged programs where results are used to re-rank the

regional exploration targets in order to determine the next program of work.

Targets evaluated during 2006-2007 include; Bulletin, Detour Road, Sandstone

North, Eighteen Mile Well, Mickey Well, Atley, Caravan Reserve, Airport, Anomaly

“A” – Bulchina South, Henry SE, Phoenix, Lord Nelson East, Iron Knob, Coombs

Bore, Tabletop Hill, Indomitable, Picadilly and North Swede Prospects.

E X P L O R A T I O N  -  A U S T R A L I A

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Sandstone Gold Exploration Targets Areas 2006 - 2007
Troy Geologist at Mt Klemptz, 
Sandstone, Western Australia"
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Phoenix Prospect: Due to extremely poor ground conditions, eight Reverse

Circulation “RC” holes totalling 385m were completed of a planned fifteen hole RC

drill test of the Phoenix Prospect located 2km NW of the Sandstone treatment

plant. Drilling tested for shallow mineralisation and assessed the

geometry/continuity of the zone on 4 drill sections. Re-assay of 5m composite

samples has returned significant gold intersections in two holes with the best gold

interval being 22m @ 3.11g/t. Further drilling is planned for September – October

2007 to further test the zone along strike and down dip.

Bulletin Prospect: Several phases of Rotary Air Blast “RAB” drilling were

undertaken at Bulletin including; an initial 33 hole angled RAB pattern and a follow-

up infill program (18 angled RAB holes for 1,243m). Weak gold anomalism was

intersected in the 4 westernmost holes located 200m south along strike from some

shallow old workings. Mineralisation is hosted within a western dipping sequence

of BIF, chert and foliated basalt and occurs as discontinuous, gossanous quartz

veinlets. The best of the follow-up infill RAB results include; 5m @ 1.67g/t gold from

10m and 5m @ 1.60g/t gold from 45m. Mineralisation is associated with goethitic

quartz stringers related to east-northeast oriented intermediate porphyry intrusive

which cuts through the main area of workings. Additional drilling is planned.

At the Tabletop Hill Prospect, 8km south along strike of the Bulchina Deposit,

Rotary Air Blast “RAB” drilling intersected 5m @ 0.45g/t gold in residual nodular

laterite and 5m @ 0.10g/t gold proximal to a felsic intrusive. Step out drilling of the

lateritic anomaly failed to identify a mineralised source.

Twenty-seven rock chip grab samples

were collected from historical

workings on the Garden Well

Prospect located 6km to the south of

the Sandstone Mill. The best gold

assay reported was 34.10g/t from the

southern portion of the Garden Well

area and 18.50g/t gold from 

the Mulga Prospect. A series of

Rotary Air Blast “RAB” traverses

targeted anomalous rock chip

samples structurally associated with

weak gold-in-soil anomalism. No

encouraging results were obtained.

Reverse Circulation “RC” drilling in

August will test the “Mulga” area of

workings at Garden Well.

Lord Nelson East Prospect: Sixteen

angled RAB holes were drilled to 

test a series of northeast trending

structures in gneissic terrane. These

targets were interpreted to be of

similar orientation to secondary

shearing found in the Lord Nelson 

Pit 1.5km to the southwest. All 

holes intersected gneiss with only

minor quartz veining. No gold

mineralisation was detected.

In February 2007, detailed structural

mapping was conducted by Jigsaw

Geoscience Consultants in the Lord

Nelson and Lord Henry Pits to assist

in the identification of drill targets at

depth below the current planned pits.

At Lord Nelson, the east lode swings

around to the north-west at the north

end of the pit to follow a granodiorite

dyke. Elevated gold values are

associated with the contact of the

granodiorite dyke and the ultramafic

schist footwall. This zone warrants

further investigation as a potential

down plunge drill target. At Lord

Henry, the north dipping mineralised

veins cut through a series of sub-

vertical north-northwest striking veins

with elevated gold values occurring at

the intersection of the two vein sets.

Sandstone Gold Exploration Targets Areas 2007 - 2008
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These structures were not identified during resource modelling and are not

reflected in the block model. Reverse Circulation “RC” drilling is planned to test the

down plunge potential of these structures and to evaluate the potential for

additional north dipping stacked lodes.

Two hundred and six Rotary Air Blast”RAB” holes (8,045m) were drilled on the

North Swede Prospect on 800m spaced traverses designed to test a target hosted

within a folded Banded Iron Formation “BIF” situated in the vicinity of the West

Indomitable and Lightning Shears and just to the north of the Swede Gold Showing.

The drilling has significantly downgraded the gold prospectivity of the area but

several holes drilled within the central portion of the target intersected abundant

coarse pyrite that yielded nickel assay values in the order of 1000ppm – 1500ppm

nickel. The best gold assay value reported was 2m @ 0.40g/t from 10m.

Infill Rotary Air Blast “RAB” drilling at the Indomitable Prospect intersected 5m @

1.93g/t gold from 11m and 2m @ 3.29g/t gold from 22m. Many holes were

abandoned in highly ferruginous saprock due to bad ground conditions. At the

northern end of the Indomitable Shear, RAB drilling intersected 2m @ 0.25g/t gold.

Additional drilling is planned.

Infill Air-core drilling at the Picadilly Prospect intersected a best value of 5m @

0.69g/t gold further downgrading the prospectivity of the area. Deep high grade

mineralisation intersected in earlier drilling has been found not to continue up-dip.

This up-dip projection has been eroded and the zone is now overlain by 30m of

transported cover at the confluence of two major paleochannels.

During the July – December 2007 period 6,600m of Reverse Circulation “RC” and

Diamond Core drilling will target mineralisation at Indomitable, Musketeer and

Phoenix Prospects. RC and Diamond Core drilling is also planned to test deeper

mineralisation at the Hacks and Oroya Deposits. Diamond Core drilling at Lord

Nelson and Lord Henry Deposits will test the known mineralisation at depth and a

number of conceptual targets.

Exploration for nickel sulphides in the SGB has been minimal with no modern nickel

exploration undertaken. The most recent nickel exploration was completed by

Kennecott Exploration Incorporated (1969 -1972) in the southern part of the SGB. A

number of anomalies were investigated and although pyrrhotite, pyrite and minor

chalcopyrite were intersected in shallow drilling no nickel sulphides were reported.

No nickel sulphide focussed exploration has taken place in the SGB belt since

Kennecott’s work.

Recent regional scale mapping by the Geological Survey of Western Australia

highlighted the fact that previous explorers found only background amounts of

nickel in the limited areas explored for nickel at Sandstone. Troy’s district scale

geological mapping program has confirmed a significantly wider distribution nickel

prospective ultramafic rocks. Troy in conjunction with the Centre for Exploration

Targeting at the University of Western Australia is conducting a nickel exploration

targeting study for the Sandstone region. Plans are to apply modern nickel

exploration methods to these recently identified areas underlain by prospective

ultramafic rocks.

E X P L O R A T I O N  -  A U S T R A L I A

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Troy Geologists Mapping Mickey Well Workings -
Sandstone, Western Australia
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THREE RIVERS JOINT VENTURE 

(Barrick Australia Earning 70%)

In September 2004, Barrick Gold

through its’ Australian subsidiary

Plutonic Operations Limited entered

into an earn-in joint venture whereby

Plutonic can acquire a 60% interest in

the Three Rivers Project located

about 60km southwest of Barrick’s

Plutonic Gold Mine and about 850km

northeast of Perth. Barrick must

spend A$3Million over a five year

period with at least A$2Million by the

end of the fourth year. Barrick

completed its minimum expenditure

requirement of A$400,000 for the first

year but Barrick has suspended field

work while a new Access and

Heritage agreement is negotiated

BRONCO PLAINS JOINT VENTURE 

(Troy Earning 60%)

In March 2006, Troy entered into an

earn-in joint venture agreement with

Image Resources whereby Troy can

earn a 60% interest in the Bronco

Plains Project by spending A$500,000

over 5 years. Southern Geoscience

Consultants modelling of the

aeromagnetic data significantly

diminished the near surface gold

potential and Troy withdrew from the

Bronco Plains Project. 

SOUTHERN CROSS EXPLORATION

AND MINING JOINT VENTURES 

St. Barbara Mines is the manager and

operator of four joint ventures

projects in the Southern Cross region

of Western Australia. The Cornishman

Mining JV (SBM 51% / Troy 49%) is

dormant and the site is under

rehabilitation. The Cornishman

Exploration Joint Venture (SBM51% /

Troy 49%) and the Bullfinch

Copperhead Exploration JV (SBM

51% / Troy 49%) are also managed by

St. Barbara with no significant work

undertaken recently. 

In January 2006, SBM requested a two year extension to the earning period for the

Southern Cross JV (SBM earning 60%) agreement to 22 July 2008.Troy agreed to

grant the two year extension on the basis that SBM would spend at least half of the

outstanding expenditure commitment of A$1,771,277 08 on field activities. SBM has

completed a compilation and targeting work throughout the belt that has

highlighted the Gordons, Cornishman South and Holden BIF area within the JV

area as targets that warrant additional drilling. 

BLACKMAN’S JV 

(Troy 22.5%)

At the Blackman’s JV situated north of Mt. Magnet in Western Australia, operator

Mt Magnet Gold NL completed 18 additional Reverse Circulation “RC” drill holes

from the Hardpan Prospect with the best gold results being 5m @ 14.54g/t and 2m

@ 18.58 g/t gold. The drilling intersected a sequence of interbedded mafic and

ultramafic lithologies beneath a 5m – 10m thickness of alluvial cover. The base of

oxidation varies between 50m and 80m below surface, with only a few holes

intersecting fresh rock at depths greater than 80m. Mineralised intervals are

generally associated with zones of intense quartz veining. Troy completed an

assessment of the drill results to date and based on the limited potential withdrew

from the TMX Syndicate and thereby is no longer a participant in the Blackman’s JV. 

Sandstone - Historic Nickel Sulphide Exploration Areas – Kennecott 1969 -1972. 
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NORTHERN TERRITORY

DALY RIVER PROJECT 

(Troy 100%)

In 1993 Troy Resources NL acquired a

group of exploration tenements at

Daly River, located approximately

145km south of Darwin in the

Northern Territory. The tenements

comprise 4 granted exploration

licenses and 2 exploration license

applications currently covering

411km2. The project area has good

potential for both volcanogenic

massive sulphide base metal deposits

and lode style vein hosted gold.

Earlier exploration by Peko

Exploration Ltd (Geopeko) for base

metals and gold included

geophysical surveys, geochemical

sampling and drilling that identified a

(Non-JORC) mineral inventory of

762,000t at 9.99% zinc, 1.77% copper,

0.3% lead and 14.5 g/t silver at the

Anomaly “A” Zone.

Troy’s “on ground” exploration has

been limited by protracted

negotiations for access resulting in

extended delays to the grant of

several tenement applications. Troy

has identified a number high quality

geophysical and structural targets as

well as a series of inadequately tested

targets generated by previous

explorers that require follow-up

exploration. A contract to conduct an

aeromagnetic survey over the

granted tenements in the northern

portion of the project has been

finalized with data acquisition

expected in late 2007.

E X P L O R A T I O N  -  A U S T R A L I A

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

TENNANT CREEK 

(Troy 100%)

Troy concluded an option/sale agreement with Prosperity Resources Limited and

Bungarra Resources Pty Limited whereby Troy will receive A$150,000 cash or

equivalents from Prosperity Resources and a 1% Net Smelter Royalty on all future

production in exchange for the company’s 11 Tennant Creek tenements. In the

event that Bungarra elects to relinquish any tenement block(s) in the future, Troy

Resources has the first right of refusal to re-acquire the block at no cost. As the

exploration manager and operator Prosperity/Bungarra are responsible for all

tenement costs and statutory obligations.

Daly River Project Geology, Tenements and Planned Aeromagnetics Survey

Sheared Mafic Volcanics within Edale Fault - Coomb Bore Prospect, Sandstone, Western Australia
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E X P L O R A T I O N  -  B R A Z I L

Andorinhas Project Regional Geology and Location Plan

Brazil Geology with Troy Project Locations 

PARA STATE 

ANDORINHAS PROJECT 

(Troy 100%) 

In November 2006 Troy Resources

reached agreement to acquire 

the Andorinhas Gold Project

(“Andorinhas”) in Brazil from

Agincourt Resources Limited

(“Agincourt”).

Under the agreement Troy purchased

all the shares in Agincourt Resources

do Brasil Ltda which holds the mining

leases of Andorinhas. The purchase

price was US$10.14 million cash. In

June 2007, Troy announced a JORC

compliant Indicated and Inferred

Resource of 4.0 million tonnes @

3.4g/t for 435,000 contained ounces

of gold as estimated by Snowden

Mining Industry Consultants. Within

this Resource is a Probable Reserve of

1,227,200 tonnes @ 6.5g/t for 255,980

contained ounces of gold. Troy

believes the project area offers

considerable exploration potential

and we are hopeful of adding further

resources in the medium term.

The Andorinhas Project located in

Para State in northern central Brazil is

hosted in the Andorinhas Greenstone

Belt. 

The current focus of exploration

drilling at the Andorinhas Project is

on the established resource targets at

the Lagoa Seca and Mamão

Deposits. 
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E X P L O R A T I O N  -  B R A Z I L

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

The main resource is the Mamão

Deposit which is characterised by a

series of gently dipping, high grade

quartz veined shears that show good

continuity down-dip. This deposit

consists of two main zones, the

Melechete and the M2 Lodes. The

main Melechete Lode was worked

down to 150m below surface by

Garimpeiros (artisinal miners) in the

1980’s. Significant mineralisation

exists both along strike and down dip

from these workings. The M2 Lode is

narrower than Melechete and has

been drilled to 200m below surface

and remains open at depth. 

At Mamão, Rotary Air Blast “RAB”

drilling was completed to delineate

the shallower portions of Melechete

ore surface and extent of the

historical underground workings.

Seven holes (476.5m) were drilled

north of Melechete Garimpeiro pit to

delineate the extent of the

underground workings and one of the

holes drilled west of the known

underground workings yielded an

assay of 3m @ 12.50g/t gold. This

intercept suggests there is good

potential for additional shallow

mineralisation at the Mamão Zone as

well. 

The Lagoa Seca Deposit is located

6km west of Mamão. It was originally

mined as a small open pit by

Garimpeiros to a depth of 20m. Gold

mineralisation is associated with a

30m wide shear zone which

comprises three high grade tabular

zones over a strike length of 200m. 

Andorinhas Property Geology and Mineralised Trends

Mamáo - Babaçu Trend Geology
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Surface Projections of Mineralised Lodes - Melechete and M2 Mamão Deposit, Andorinhas Project, Brazil
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Between the months of April – June

2007, exploration drilling was focused

on the established resource targets

known as the Lagoa Seca and Mamão

Zones. Drilling has confirmed the

grade and continuity of the gold

mineralisation within the resource

model at Lagoa Seca but more

importantly has identified potential

extensions in both directions along

strike and at depth. 

Infill drilling of the Lagoa Seca

resulted in the completion of 18

Reverse Circulation “RC” holes

(1,131m). The program targeted the

Lagoa Seca Zone on a 25m

(horizontal) by 20m (vertical) grid.

Significant gold intersections

reported included: 31m @ 10.88g/t

from 55m, 8m @ 7.00g/t from 40m,

25m @ 4.24 g/t from 51m including

6m @ 11.77g/t, 50m @ 1.78g/t, 38m @

2.54g/t from 50m and 28m @ 4.70g/t.
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Andorinhas - Lagoa Seca – Lagoa Seca West Trend Geology

Lagoa Seca Resource Plan of Infill Drill Sections and Significant Drill Intercepts

TBX RC Rig, Digo Digo Trend, SML Project, Brazil
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Lagoa Seca Cross Section LSC001 – LSC008

Lagoa Seca Cross Section LSC014 – LSC015

At Lagoa Seca, 1,150m of percussion

grade control drilling (192 holes) was

completed as of June 30th to test the

strike extensions to the modeled

resource and the strike continuity of

the mineralisation within the current

pit design. The drilling has identified

significant potential for additional

high grade mineralisation outside 

the model, along strike to the

northeast and southwest. Follow-up

drilling with the Rotary Air Blast

“RAB” and Reverse Circulation "RC"

rigs is planned to evaluate these

potential strike extensions. 

Quartz Vein, Serrita Project, Brazil
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GOIAS STATE 

SML SERTÃO PROJECT 

(Troy 70%):

SERTÃO REGIONAL EXPLORATION

Since taking over management of the

SML regional exploration program in

November 2005, over 40,000m of

anomaly drilling was completed to

assess geological and geochemical

targets throughout the SML

tenements. In addition to the SML

wholly owned tenements, three

additional properties were acquired

through option/joint venture deals

with Horizonte Minerals on the

Lavrinhas block in the south, the

Curral de Pedras (Dimas/Natal JV)

located 4km north of the Antena

Cluster and the Tiririca JV in the

north. Targets assessed during 2006-

2007 included Sertão Mine Corridor,

Antena Cluster, Digo Digo Trend

(Viuva, ParaisoParaiso NW and Nena

Zones), Tiririca, Lavrinhas, Porteira,

Sierra, Cural de Pedras, Alaska,

Frutuoso Prospects. Following the

acquisition of the Andorinhas Project

and decision to relocate the 

SML plant to Andorinhas, the

justification for a continuation of 

the SML program diminished

significantly. Therefore, in February

2007 exploration drilling at the SML

ceased. 
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

SML Project Tenements, Geology and Targets

Drilling, Cural de Pedras Zone, RAB Drilling SML Project, Brazil
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Serrita Project Tenements and Geology

MINAS GERAIS STATE 

RIO PIRANGA PROJECT 

(Troy earning 100%)

At the Rio Piranga in Minas Gerais,

State, a 1,048m shallow drilling

program was completed in

September 2006, to evaluate gold

mineralisation within the river terrace

gravels. Bulk drill samples of the gold

bearing gravels analyzed by gravity

and amalgamation methods did not

return significant results. As a

consequence, Troy did not exercise

its option and withdrew from the

project in December 2006.

PERNAMBUCO STATE

SERRITA PROJECT 

(Troy earning 75%)

Surface exploration to define drill

targets at the Serrita Project was

completed and included geological

mapping and channel sampling

focused on the nine largest

garimpeiro areas. The mapped

workings are clustered within a 1.7km

by 3.0km area, where nine parallel,

shear hosted quartz veins have been

mapped. The best gold grades

reported from channel sampling of

the veins exposed in the old workings

included: 0.13m @ 56.48g/t, 0.2m @

28.53g/t, 0.3m @25.01g/t @ 24.25g/t,

0.3m @ 14.33g/t, 0.45m @ 7.88g/t and

0.3m @ 15.29g/t gold. 

All the quartz veins occur in east-

northeast trending shear zones, with

north-northwest dips varying

between -40° to vertical. The gold

mineralisation is associated with

boxworks sulphides and iron oxides

that occur along the quartz vein

margins. A drill program focussed on

assessing the lateral and vertical

extent of mineralisation is planned on

five of the better prospects.
Troy Geologists Mapping at Andorinhas, Brazil
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Most of Troy’s early stage “greenfields” exploration effort is concentrated in

Mongolia for gold, copper-gold and coal. Troy Mongolia Alt Resources ("TMAR")

project portfolio includes the Gutain Davaa Gold Project, Dornogovi Coal Project

and two new gold projects; Altanshiree and Huren Tolgoi. The Hets Ondor, and

Shoroot Uhaa Prospects were deemed to have limited potential and were

dropped. A project generation program is underway targeting new gold and

copper-gold project acquisitions throughout Mongolia. 

E X P L O R A T I O N  -  M O N G O L I A
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

GUTAIN DAVAA PROJECT 

(Troy earning 80%)

The Gutain Davaa Project is a joint venture between Troy Mongolia “TMAR” and

Mongolian domiciled U & B Mining. TMAR completed an initial property wide

exploration program of geological mapping, soil sampling and grid based ground

magnetics in 2005 which was followed in February 2006 by a limited Reverse

Circulation “RC” drill program targeted a ridge crest known as the Toordogiin Shil

“TS” Prospect where earlier surface mapping and rock sampling had identified

quartz veins with visible gold that returned anomalous gold assays ranging from

11g/t to 390g/t. Soil sampling and costeans at TS Prospect defined a 400m long

target zone with peak gold values of 240ppb. The soil anomalism strikes northwest-

southeast which parallels the shear that hosts the gold bearing quartz veins.

In November 2006, TMAR completed a combined Diamond Core “DC” and

Reverse Circulation “RC” drilling program at TS Prospect totalling 1986.5 m in 

22 holes that included 676.5m in 8 DC drill holes and 1310m in 14 RC drill holes. 

The best gold assays reported included:

GDDD29: 19.3m – 23.5m: 4.2m @ 12.97g/t gold and 45.3m - 47.7m: 

2.4m @ 55.23g/t gold; 

GDDD30: 37.2m – 39.1m: 1.9m @ 30.12g/t gold and 47.0m - 48.9m;

1.9m @13.13g/t gold;

GDDD31: 7.8m – 8.8m; 1.0m @ 2.24g/t gold and 33.1 – 35.6m; 

2.5m @ 2.69 g/t gold 

GDDD34: 57m - 58m; 1.0m @ 3.80g/t gold and 64m - 65m; 1.0m @ 6.24g/t gold

The November drilling targeted a northwest – southeast striking structural corridor

with a coincident gold-in-soil anomaly. A post-drilling data review identified the

possibility that the darker grey iron-oxide stained gold bearing quartz veins maybe

oriented along A northeast-southwest strike trend and dip steeply south that would

not have been adequately tested by the November 2006 drilling. 

Troy Mongolia “TMAR” Project Location Plan

Troy Geologist Sampling at Altanshiree, 
Gobi Region, Mongolia
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Gutain Davaa Geology and Target Plan

Toordogiin Shil “TS” Prospect Gold-in-soil Anomalies & Drill Collars

During 2007, an infill soil sampling

program completed at the

Toordogiin Shil (TS) Prospect clearly

delineated three distinct gold-in-soil

anomalies (>100ppb gold) at the

Toordogiin Shil zone over an 800m

northwest-southeast strike length.

The Toordogiin Shil zone comprises

the TS North and TS Central Targets

as well as the new TS South Target.

Detailed prospecting and ground

follow-up at TS South target resulted

in the discovery of a new quartz vein

with visible gold. A total of 25 rock

chip grab samples were collect

resulting in significant gold assays

that included; 18.41g/t, 250.50g/t,

441.00g/t and 1753.60g/t gold.

Additional drilling is planned for

September - October 2007.

DORNOGOVI COAL JV PROJECT 

(Troy 100% - Rio Tinto Earning–in) 

The Dornogovi Project consists of the

six exploration licenses located in the

central part of Dornogovi Basin,

encompassing an area of 800,681ha

and straddling the Trans-Mongolian

railway north of Sainshand in

southeast Mongolia. Since acquiring

the ground Troy’s reconnaissance

mapping and rock sampling has

highlighted potential for Permian age

coal, Mesozoic age coal and uranium

in addition to the copper and gold

potential. 

In February 2007, Troy and Rio Tinto

Mongolia LLC signed a 3 year

option/earn-in joint venture deal for

the Dornogovi Coal Project. Rio Tinto

has the right to earn a 60% interest 

in the project by sole funding a 

pre-feasibility study within 3-years.

Rio Tinto has committed to spend at

least US$250,000 on exploration work

in the first year and can earn an

additional 20% interest in the project

by funding a feasibility study and

announcing the decision to mine.
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Troy may elect to reduce its interest to 15% in exchange for Rio Tinto carrying Troy’s

share of construction costs to be repaid from initial profitable project cash flow. 

Rio Tinto Mongolia (RTM) has completed reconnaissance field mapping that has

confirmed the presence of prospective Cretaceous and Permian aged stratigraphy

within the project area and is this currently undertaking a detailed remote sensing

interpretation study. Further field work in the region will focus on the results of the

remote sensing interpretation. 

HUREN TOLGOI (HT) PROJECT 

(Troy earning 80%)

The Huren Tolgoi Project is located in the Ovorkhangai Aimag about 440km

southwest of Ulaanbaatar. The Huren Tolgoi area is underlain by a oval-shaped Late

Permian granite within in a host sequence of metasediments. The intrusion margin

is weakly propylitically altered and the surrounding country rocks are weakly

hornfelsed. Epithermal veins have developed along the northern and northwestern

margins of intrusion. 

TMAR conducted a limited rock chip sampling program along three quartz veins

with a best gold assay of 17.82g/t Au. The silicified intrusive which hosts the gold

bearing quartz veins zone strikes north-south over an 800m strike length and is

exposed over 40m - 50m widths. In November 2006, a ground magnetics survey was

completed. Although the magnetic field strength response was subdued the

magnetic data clearly identified a series of northwest – southeast and north – south

structural trends. 
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Dornogovi Project Geology and Coal Targets

Quartz Vein Huren Tolgoi, Mongolia
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During 2007, field work included

additional geological mapping, rock

chip sampling, soil sampling and a

geophysical survey. The soil sampling

program was completed resulting in

the collection of 270 soil samples on a

detailed sampling 1700m by 500m

grid centered over the silicified and

weakly propylitically altered granite.

The gold-in-soil values returned were

quite subdued ranging 10ppb –

30ppb gold the highest was 314ppb.

The IP survey highlighted a resistive

body associated with the surface

silicification zone and the

outcropping quartz veins. The survey

data is currently being processed and

interpreted by Southern Geoscience

Consultants in Perth. 

TSAGAAN CHULUUT (TC) PROJECT 

(Troy 100%)

In 2006, TMAR completed soil

sampling within the TC East “Uhaa

Shar Uul” tenement located due east

of the intrusive hosted gold zone

TMAR previously tested by Reverse

Circulation “RC” drilling in early 2005.

Gold-in-soil results included a peak

value of 2.47g/t gold. Follow-up

prospecting and geological mapping

has identified several shallow dipping

stacked quartz veins. At the TC East

Quartz Vein Target geological

mapping and rock sampling had

yielded anomalous rock grab sample

assays of 17.49g/t, 55.95g/t and

213.6g/t gold. In late 2006, a ground

magnetics survey was completed and

this new data has contributed

significantly to the understanding of

the structural setting. The next phase

of field work will focus on areas where

the main structural trends intersect.

Huren Tolgoi Geology, Sampling and IP Survey Grid Plan

Rock Sampling at Altanshiree Project, Gobi Region, Mongolia
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ALTANSHIREE PROJECT 

(Troy earning 80%)

During October 2006, Troy concluded agreements to acquire a majority interest in

two tenement blocks known as the Altanshiree Project, which is located in of the

Dornogovi region in southeast Mongolia, approximately 450km south-southeast of

Ulaanbaatar. At Altanshiree, structurally controlled quartz vein hosted gold

occurrences are associated with regional northeast-southwest trending faults.

TMAR has identified a northeast-southwest striking vein of laminated, brecciated

and banded quartz with significant visible gold. The vein outcrops over a strike

length of 500m and averages 1.5m wide. It is situated within a shear zone

developed along the contact between granite, granite diorite and diorite intrusives.

Rock chip sample assays produced gold values up to 57.5g/t with the better gold

grades associated with zones of disseminated sulphides including pyrite, galena

and chalcopyrite. 

In November – December 2006 a 1,292m (20 hole) Reverse Circulation “RC” and

Diamond Core drilling program focused on the Quartz Vein #13 Target did not yield

any significant gold intercepts. The best assay value was 1m @ 1.22g/t gold. Fracture

related surface enrichment may explain the strong surface gold anomalism with no

apparent continuity at depth. The properties have been returned to the vendors. 
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Troy Geologists Rock Sampling, Gobi Region, Mongolia
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OIJÄRVI PROJECT 

(Troy 50%)

After several dormant years, Diamond Core drilling has re-commenced in the Oijärvi area of northern Finland, with Troy and joint

venture partners Agnico Eagle Mines Ltd (formerly Riddarhyttan Resources AB) undertaking an eight hole, 1,866m program

focussed on extensional targets down dip and along strike at the Kylmäkangas gold-silver occurrence. The joint venture

tenements encompass an area underlain by Archaean greenstones forming a 2-10km wide and 70km long belt, known as the

Oijärvi Greenstone Belt. At the Kylmäkangas Prospect geology consists of a layered sequence of mafic volcanic rocks, ultramafic

rocks and quartz-feldspar-porphyries. At the eastern side of the quartz-feldspar-porphyry there is a steeply dipping shear zone

hosting massive quartz-veins containing gold, silver and base metals. The shear zone is characterised by a strong foliation and

an alteration resulting in rocks rich in sericite, biotite, chlorite, amphibole and carbonate minerals. Gold is closely associated with

silver and copper. Significant drill gold assay results from the 2006 drill program are summarized below:

KYL 06001: 238.35 - 247.75; 9.40m @ 10.1g/t gold and 121g/t silver;

KYL 06002: 237.75m - 248.30m; 10.55m @ 4.79g/t gold and 92g/t silver;

KYL 06003: 130.10m -132.00m; 1.90m @ 3.75 g/t gold and 24g/t silver;

KYL 06005: 208.25m - 221.90m; 13.65m @ 3.95g/t gold and 59g/t silver;

KYL 06006: 225.00m - 235.65m; 10.65m @ 5.20g/t gold and 67g/t silver;

KYL 06007: 265.00m - 270.05m; 5.5m @ 5.38g/t gold and 34g/t silver.

E X P L O R A T I O N  -  F I N L A N D

Geological Mapping, Oijarvi Project, Finland

Mineralised Quartz Vein, Kylmakangas Zone, Finland
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GOLD RESERVES
Troy’s Share

Reporting Contained Contained

Deposit cut-off Tonnes Grade Ounces Ounces

(g/t Au) (g/t Au)

Lord Nelson

Proved(1) 0.8 532,000 1.59 27,200 27,200

Probable 0.8 8,000 6.22 1,600 1,600

Lord Henry

Proved(1) 0.96 144,000 3.52 16,200 16,200

Probable 0.96 417,000 3.04 40,700 40,700

Antena Cluster

Proved(1) 2.34 8,300 2.64 700 490

Andorinhas

Probable Multiple(2) 1,227,000 6.51 255,980 255,980

TOTAL 2,336,000 4.60 342,400 342,200

GOLD RESOURCES (Inclusive of in situ reserves)
Troy’s Share

Reporting Contained Contained

Deposit cut-off Tonnes Grade Ounces Ounces

(g/t Au) (g/t Au)

Lord Nelson

Indicated 0.8 1,003,000 2.42 78,000 78,000

Inferred 0.8 54,000 2.35 4,000 4,000

Lord Henry(1)

Indicated 0.8 1,388,000 2.00 89,300 89,300

Inferred 0.8 38,000 1.71 2,000 2,000

Antena Cluster

Indicated 1.0 375,800 1.84 22,300 15,600

Inferred 1.0 142,800 1.51 6,930 4,900

Andorinhas

Indicated Multiple(2) 2,315,000 4.70 349,800 349,800

Inferred Multiple(2) 1,681,000 1.50 83,000 83,000

Cornishman

Indicated 0.9 1,040,000 3.07 103,000 50,500

Inferred 0.9 33,000 2.00 2,000 1,000

Three Rivers(3)

Indicated 1.0 1,680,000 2.40 130,000 130,000

Sandstone

Indicated 1.0 794,000 1.80 46,000 46,000

Inferred 1.0 2,254,000 1.88 136,200 136,200

TOTAL

Indicated 8,600,000 2.96 818,400 759,200

Inferred 4,200,000 1.72 234,000 232,000

Tonnes, grade and ounces have been rounded and this may have resulted in minor discrepancies.

R E S E R V E S  A N D  R E S O U R C E S
As at June 30th 2007

Notes to the Table
1. Lord Henry, Lord Nelson and Antena

proved reserves represent stockpiled
material mined from the pit. Lord Nelson
includes oxide mineralised waste that is in
the processing schedule. The Lord Henry
and Lord Nelson resource excludes this
material.

2. Andorinhas reserve and resource cutoffs:

Reserves
4.5g/t Au Mamão,
1.1g/t Au Lagoa Seca, 

Resources
2.0g/t Au Mamão,
0.8g/t Au Lagoa Seca,
0.8g/t Au Lagoa Seca West

3. Snowden Mining Industry Consultants
(“Snowden”) classified the bulk block
model (5mE x 10mN x 5mRL) for the Three
Rivers Resources estimate as:
Measured: 913,000t @ 1.49g/t Au

And
Indicated: 1,174,000t @ 1.40g/t Au

Troy Resources NL (“Troy”) has reported
Snowden’s unclassified selective estimate
(2.5mE x 10mN x 2.5mRL) as an Indicated
Resource. Barrick Gold of Australia is
earning 60% equity in the Three Rivers
Project.

Snowden confirms that the Lord Henry, Lord
Nelson, Andorinhas, Three Rivers and
Sandstone Resources accurately represent
estimates reviewed by Mr. Shaun Hackett. 
Mr. Hackett is a full-time employee of
Snowden and is a Member of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

Snowden confirms that the Lord Henry, 
Lord Nelson, and Andorinhas Reserves
accurately represent estimates reviewed by
Mr. S. Pederick and Mr. F. Blanchfield. 
Mr. Pederick and Mr. Blanchfield are full-time
employees of Snowden and are Members of
the Australasian Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy. 

The Antena Cluster Reserve has been
reviewed by Mr Peter Doyle. Mr Doyle is a full
time employee of Troy Resources NL and is a
member of the Australasian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy. 

St Barbara Mines Ltd (“St Barbara”) is the
manager of the Cornishman joint venture and
compiled the Cornishman Resource estimate.
The estimates were verified by St Barbara 
in 2006 under the management of Mr 
Peter Thompson, GM Exploration for 
St Barbara. Mr Thompson is a Member of the
AusIMM and qualifies as a Competent Person
as defined by the 2004 edition of the
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves’.

Messrs Blanchfield, Hackett, Pederick, Doyle
and Thompson have sufficient experience
which is relevant to the style of mineralisation
and type of deposits under consideration and
to the activity which each is undertaking to
qualify as a Competent Person as defined in
the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for
Reporting of Mineral Resources and
Reserves”. Each consents to the inclusion in
the report of the matters based on their
information in the form and context in which it
appears.
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Xupe Pit, SML Project, Brazil
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

The Directors of Troy Resources NL present their annual financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2007. In order to

comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

DIRECTORS

The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company in office during or since the end of the financial year are:

MR J L C JONES Chairman 

AusIMM, AICD (aged 63) - appointed July 1988.

Chairman of the Company since November 1988, Mr Jones is a Kalgoorlie pastoralist and businessman formerly associated with

North Kalgurli Mines and was a founding director of Jones Mining Limited. He is also a Director and Chairman of Anglo Australian

Resources NL (since 1990).

MR T D McKEITH Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

B.Sc (Hons) in Geology, Grad Dip Eng (Mining), MBA (Witwatersrand), SEG (aged 43) - appointed 3 April 2006 and has resigned

as Chief Executive Officer with effect from 30 September 2007. Mr McKeith will continue as a Non-Executive Director from 1

October 2007. Prior to his time with Troy, Mr McKeith spent seventeen years with international gold mining company, Gold Fields

Limited, in various mine geology, exploration and business development roles.

MR K K NILSSON Director – Operations

B.Eng, Cert of Eng (aged 66) - appointed May 1998.

Mr Nilsson has been the Company’s Chief Operating Officer since April 1997 and was appointed Managing Director in May 1998

until the appointment of Mr McKeith in April 2006, when he converted to his current position. 

He is a mining engineer with more than 35 years experience in the mining industry, covering gold, base metals and coal.

MR P A K NAYLOR Non-Executive Independent Director 

MSDIA, FFIN (aged 71) - appointed April 1984.

A stockbroker and financial adviser with over 35 years experience, Mr Naylor is also a Director (and former Chairman) of New

Privateer Holdings Limited (since 1982). He is a member of both the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

DR D E CLARKE Non-Executive Independent Director 

B.Sc (Hons) in Geology, BA, PhD in Geology (Stanford), FAusIMM (aged 66) - appointed 23 March 1999.

Dr Clarke has more than 35 years experience in exploration and mining, principally in Australia and North America, including 15

years with Plutonic Resources Limited. He is also Chairman of Cullen Resources Limited (since 1999) and Beaconsfield Gold NL

(since 2004) and a Non-Executive Director of Anglo Australian Resources NL (since 1999). Dr Clarke is the Chairman of both the

Audit and Remuneration Committees. He was formerly a Director of BeMax Resources NL from June 1999 to November 2003.

MR J A S DOW Non-Executive Independent Director

B.Sc (Hons) in Geology, FAusIMM, CP(Man) (aged 61) - appointed 15 February 2006. 

Mr Dow has had more than 38 years in the mining and exploration industry most recently as Chairman and Managing Director of

Newmont Australia (formerly Normandy Mining Limited) from which he retired in March 2005. Mr Dow is currently Non-Executive

Chairman of Pike River Coal Limited and Non-Executive Director of Glass Earth Limited. He is also a Director of the Australasian

Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM), Chairman of the WA School of Mines External Advisory Board and Chairman of the

CODES (U.Tas) External Advisory Board. He is a member of both the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

D I R E C T O R S '  R E P O R T
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

The following persons acted as Secretaries of the Company during the entire financial year:

MR G F KACZMAREK 

B.Ec (Acc), CPA, AICD. 

Mr Kaczmarek was appointed Company Secretary in June 1998. He has over 20 years experience in accounting and the mining

industry principally with CRA Limited (now RTZ) and Burmine Ltd.

MR W H HALL

FCA. Mr Hall was appointed as joint Company Secretary in April 1996. He is a Chartered Accountant and has over 50 years

experience in accounting and secretarial affairs.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Troy Resources NL is a No Liability Company which was incorporated in Victoria in 1984 and is domiciled in Australia with its head

office in Perth, Western Australia. The Company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) in 1987. The Company’s ordinary

shares trade under ASX code “TRY” and partly paid shares under ASX code “TRYCA”.

Additional Company information can be found in Note 34 to the Financial Statements.

Information on Subsidiaries and group structure can be found in Note 27 to the Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity during the year were gold production through its operations at Sandstone in

Western Australia, and the Sertão Mine in Brazil. The Consolidated Entity is currently developing a new gold mine at Andorinhas

in Brazil which is due to commence operations in January 2008. Exploration activities, principally for gold, continued during the

year concentrating primarily on the Sandstone area in WA and on project evaluation and exploration in Brazil and Mongolia.

OPERATING RESULTS

The profit from ordinary activities tax and minority interests for the year ended 30 June 2007 for the Group was $20,100,000 

(2006: $15,956,000) a 26% increase on the previous year. The profit for the year was after the allowance for $7,402,000 of

exploration expenditure being written off (2006: $8,486,000), depreciation and amortisation of mining tenements of $7,793,000

(2006: $7,136,000) and allowing for income tax of $7,356,000 (2006: $11,734,000). 

The basic earnings per share for the year was 34.5 cents per share (2006: 28.8) and 34.4 cents per share on a fully diluted basis

(2006: 28.7).

DIVIDENDS

The Company paid a fully franked dividend of 7.0 cents per share on 16 October 2006.

In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2007 the Directors have declared a final dividend of 7.5 cents per share, fully

franked. The dividend will be paid on both the fully paid and partly paid shares as the latter carry full dividend entitlements. The

record date for the dividend is 21 September 2007 and it will be paid on 8 October 2007.

BONUS SHARES

On the 31 August 2007 the company announced a Bonus Share issue of 1 new fully paid share for each 25 fully paid shares held

in the company at the book closing date of 8 October 2007. Partly paid shares will participate in the bonus issue in proportion to

the amount paid up on their relevant partly paid shares. The bonus shares are not entitled to participate in the dividend declared

for 21 September 2007 above.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Consolidated Entity is engaged in gold production in Western Australia and Brazil, and gold and base metal exploration and

project evaluation in Australia, South America, Mongolia and Finland.

Gold sales revenue totalled $91,761,000 for the year. During the year, $7,402,000 was incurred on exploration expenditure and

purchase of exploration tenements.

The Company’s attributable gold production for the 2006/07 year was 105,723 ounces (2006: 110,263 ounces), which was ahead

of planned production of 100,000 ounces.

The wholly owned Sandstone operations in Western Australia produced a total of 90,456 (2006: 67,934) ounces of gold for the

year at an average cash cost of A$322 (2006: A$241) per ounce, from the processing of 530,544 (2006: 495,643) tonnes of ore at

an average grade of 5.62 (2006: 4.52) grams per tonne. 

The Sertão Project in Goiás State in Brazil through Troy’s 70% owned subsidiary, Sertão Mineração Ltda (“SML”) produced 21,810

(2006: 59,306) ounces of gold, (Troy’s share 15,267) (2006: 41,514 ounces) from the treatment of 209,474 (2006: 102,960) tonnes of

ore at a head grade of 3.67 (2006: 19.43) grams per tonne. The cash operating cost for the year was A$462 (2006: A$232) per ounce

(or US$392 per ounce (2006: US$172)). Milling at Sertão ceased on 16 August 2007 and stripping of remaining gold from the circuit

will continue into early September.

Troy acquired the Andorinhas development project in Para State, Brazil in December 2006 for approximately A$13 million and is

currently in the process of mine pre-stripping and the construction of the mill and support facilities. Troy recently announced

drilling results and details of an initial Reserve of 255,980 ozs of gold and Resources of 435,000 ozs of gold at Andorinhas. The

Sertäo mill will be dismantled and relocated to Andorinhas during the latter part of 2007. Production is scheduled to commence

in early 2008.

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other than that referred

to in the Financial Statements and notes thereto.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

There has not been any matter or circumstance, except for those matters referred to in Note 31 to the Financial Statements, that

has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the

Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in future financial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Troy is committed to pursuing growth through exploration and acquisition of new projects. 

Troy has significant cash and liquid assets available to facilitate the financing of new acquisitions. 

Production levels for the 2007/08 year are forecast to be down on the current year as a result of limited production out of Brazil

in the first half of the financial year.

Mining at the Lord Nelson mine at Sandstone was substantially completed during July 2007. Mining is planned to continue at the

Lord Henry mine site at Sandstone until late 2007. With the current large level of stockpiles, milling is expected to continue at

the Sandstone mill for approximately another two years.

Production at Sandstone is likely to be lower than the 2006/07 year due to lower ore grades and increasing ore hardness which

will reduce throughput levels. Investigations into the acquisition of an additional crusher for the mill are currently underway to

help maintain throughput levels.

Satellite deposits in the Sandstone area will also be evaluated based on current gold prices.

D I R E C T O R S '  R E P O R T
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At SML in Goias, Brazil mining was completed in July 2007 and milling on 16 August 2007. Over the 4 year life of the Sertäo mine

and satellite deposits at Goias, SML has produced over 290,000 ounces of gold, with Troy holding a majority 70% equity interest.

Once all gold has been stripped from the circuit, the mill will be relocated to the Company’s Andorinhas project, in Para State,

in Brazil.

Exploration activities will continue with particular emphasis on targets around the Andorinhas Project area and at Sandstone.

Exploration will also continue on the Company’s properties in Mongolia.

SHARE ISSUES

During the year, 231,500 fully paid ordinary shares were issued due to the exercise of employee options and 615,666 partly paid

shares were paid up to fully paid shares. 

In January 2007 the company issued 3,250,000 fully paid ordinary shares with a market value of $9,100,000 as part consideration

for the purchase of 7,628,571 ordinary shares in listed Canadian company Comaplex Minerals Corp.

In April 2007 the company raised $11,667,000 in additional capital through the placement of 3,900,000 fully paid ordinary shares

at a price of $3.10 less costs.

SHARE OPTIONS

During the financial year, no options over unissued shares were granted by Troy Resources NL under the Employee Share Option

Scheme. A total of 1,130,000 unissued shares are under option in Troy Resources NL at the date of this report at issue prices

ranging from $1.86 to $2.45. No person entitled to exercise any of these options had or has any rights by virtue of the options to

participate in any share issue of any related corporation. (Refer to Notes 22 and 23 to the Financial Statements.) 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Company has a signed Deed of Access, Insurance and Indemnity with every Director of the Company against a liability to

another person, other than the Company or a related body corporate of the Company, provided that:

(a) the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 (including, but not limited to, Chapter 2E) are complied with in relation to the

giving of the indemnity; and

(b) the liability does not arise in respect of conduct involving a lack of good faith on the part of the Director.

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of an insurance policy covering the Directors of the Company,

the Company Secretaries and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred

as such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The amount of the

premium paid on the policy was $19,405 (2006: $21,469).

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of

the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The Consolidated Entity is committed to a high standard of environmental performance and during the year has not received any

fines or prosecutions under any environmental laws or regulations. The Consolidated Entity did not incur any reportable

environmental incidents during the year.

Troy Resources NL is a voluntary signatory to the Australian Minerals Industry Code for Environmental Management. F
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The Directors attended Board Meetings held during the year as follows:

Meetings Held Meetings 

Director While a Director Attended

Mr J L C Jones 15 15

Mr P A K Naylor 15 15

Mr K K Nilsson 15 15

Dr D E Clarke 15 15

Mr J A S Dow 15 15

Mr T D McKeith 15 15

The Company has an Audit Committee consisting of Dr D E Clarke (Committee Chairman), Mr P A K Naylor and Mr J A S Dow

(who was appointed to the committee on 24 January 2007) all independent, Non-Executive Directors. 

The Directors attended Audit Committee Meetings held during the year as follows:

Meetings Held Meetings 

Committee Member While a Member Attended

Dr D E Clarke 3 3

Mr P A K Naylor 3 3

Mr J A S Dow 2 2

The Company also has a Remuneration Committee consisting of Dr D E Clarke (Committee Chairman), Mr P A K Naylor and Mr

J A S Dow (who was appointed to the committee on 24 January 2007) all independent, Non-Executive Directors. The

Remuneration Committee met once during the year and all representatives at that time attended that meeting.

INTEREST IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY

The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital of the Company as at the date of this report is:

Number of Fully Paid Shares Number of Partly Paid Shares Options

Director Beneficial Non-Beneficial Beneficial Non-Beneficial

Mr J L C Jones 919,000 7,638,209 103,800 1,777,025 -

Mr P A K Naylor 190,500 - 81,000 - -

Mr K K Nilsson 70,252 - - - -

Dr D E Clarke 310,000 - - - -

Mr J A S Dow 20,000 - - - 60,000

Mr T D McKeith - - 350,000 - 500,000

D I R E C T O R S '  R E P O R T
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REMUNERATION REPORT

This report outlines the compensation arrangements in place for Directors and other Key Management Personnel of Troy

Resources NL (“the Company”). The report is set out under the following main headings:-

A. Directors and other Key Management Personnel;

B. Principles used to determine the components and amount of compensation;

C. Company performance;

D. Specific details of compensation paid to Directors and other Key Management Personnel;

E. Details of share-based compensation; and

F. Employment Contracts.

The information provided under sections B and D to F includes compensation disclosures that are required under Accounting

Standard AASB124 – “Related Party Disclosures” and these disclosures have been transferred from the financial statements which

have been audited. The disclosure in section C is required by the Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001

which have not been audited.

A. DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The Directors of Troy Resources NL during the year were:

• J L C Jones Chairman

• T D McKeith Chief Executive Officer 

– (resigned as CEO effective 30 September 07, but will continue as a Non-Executive Director)

• K K Nilsson Director – Operations

• D E Clarke Non-Executive Director

• P A K Naylor Non-Executive Director

• J A S Dow Non-Executive Director

Details of the Directors experience and qualifications are set out on page 1 of this report.

Other Key Management Personnel of Troy Resources NL during the year were:

• P J Doyle Vice President – Exploration and Business Development

• G F Kaczmarek Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer

• K D Ross Operations Manager – Australia 

• G E Cheong Registered Mine Manager until 7 December 2006

• G K Brennan Registered Mine Manager from 8 December 2006 (previously assistant Mine Manager)

Additional Executives for the Group during the year:

• H A Clive Director Ord Resources Ltd (UK subsidiary)

• T S Tserenjav Exploration Manager – Mongolia, Troy Mongolia Alt Resources (Subsidiary)

• A Mol Exploration Director - South America

During the year, the Consolidated Entity had subsidiaries in the UK, Finland, and Brazil where the duties of the Company

Secretary, or its equivalent, has been assigned to a local legal firm to provide the relevant residential country support. In these

cases there is no specific individual occupying the position of Company Secretary.F
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B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE COMPONENTS AND AMOUNT OF COMPENSATION

(i) Remuneration Philosophy

The performance of the Company is dependent upon the quality of its Directors and Executives. To continue its growth, the

Company must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and other Key Management Personnel.

Remuneration is set at a competitive level which is commensurate with the level of experience, skill, qualifications and duties

of the person and set within the Company’s capacity to pay.

(ii) Remuneration Structure 

In accordance with corporate governance best practice, the structure and review of Non-Executive Directors and those of

Key Management Personnel, including Directors, is separate and distinct.

(iii) Non-Executive Director Remuneration

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules, the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive

Directors is determined from time to time by the Company’s shareholders at a General Meeting. The current determination

was made at a General Meeting held on 18 May 2006 when an aggregate remuneration of $400,000 per annum was

approved.

The Executive Directors, in the absence of the Non-Executive Directors, determine an appropriate allocation of this

aggregate to be apportioned amongst the Non-Executive Directors. In determining an appropriate remuneration level, the

Executive Directors consider reports from external consultants, the level of fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of

comparable companies and the amount of time required to fulfil their duties to the shareholders.

Non-Executive Director remuneration is paid as a cash fee plus applicable superannuation entitlements, and they qualify to

participate in the Company’s Employee Share Option Scheme, although any allocation must be approved by the

Shareholders in general meeting. There is no retirement benefit plan for Non-Executive Directors.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2007 is detailed on page 45 of this Report.

(iv) Remuneration Committee

The Company has a formally constituted Remuneration Committee which is responsible for determining and reviewing

remuneration for the Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel. This Committee is composed of Dr D E

Clarke (Committee Chairman), Mr P A K Naylor and Mr J A S Dow (who was appointed to the Committee on 24 January 2007)

all of whom are Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

The responsibilities and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

• Review the competitiveness of the Company’s Key Management Personnel compensation programmes to ensure:

(a) the attraction and retention of Company Key Management Personnel;

(b) the motivation of Company officers to achieve the Company’s business objectives; and

(c) to align the interest of key leadership with the long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders.

• Review trends in management compensation, oversee the development of new compensation plans and, when

necessary, approve the revision of existing plans.

• Review the performance of Key Management Personnel.

• Review and approve the Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer’s goals and objectives, evaluate their performance in

light of these corporate objectives, and set the compensation levels for Executive Director’s to be consistent with

Company philosophy.

• Review the salaries, bonus and other compensation for Key Management Personnel. The Committee will recommend

appropriate salary, bonus and other compensation to the Board for approval.

• Review and approve compensation packages for new Company Key Management Personnel and termination packages

for corporate officers as requested by management.

• Review and make recommendations concerning long-term incentive compensation plans, including the use of share

options.
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The Remuneration Committee reviews salary packages on an annual basis, usually in June/July, and at other times where a

specific case is referred to it by the Board or management.

(v) Executive Director and Senior Management Personnel Remuneration

The Company aims to reward Key Management Personnel with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their

qualifications, skills, position and responsibilities within the organisation.

To assist in determining the level and composition of remuneration, the Company subscribes to independent research

reports which detail remuneration levels in the Australian mining industry for executive and general operating positions. The

Remuneration Committee also has access to salary and remuneration reports from various human resource and recruitment

agencies.

Remuneration consists of the following components:

(a) Fixed Remuneration;

(b) Variable Remuneration comprising:

(i) Short Term Incentives/Rewards

(ii) Long Term Incentives

(c) Special Benefits

(a) Fixed Remuneration

Fixed Remuneration comprises the base pay of employees and includes their annual salary, superannuation and

prescribed non-financial fixed benefits such as provision of a motor vehicle, car allowance etc.

Executives are offered a competitive salary package as this forms the base of their remuneration. Base salary is reviewed

annually to ensure remuneration is competitive with the general market range. This is very important as most Key

Management Personnel do not receive any Short Term Incentive/Reward component in their package.

(b)(i)Variable Remuneration – Short Term Incentives/Rewards

Should the Company achieve an above budget profit and/or production target in a financial year, or a new phase of

project development is successfully achieved in an expedient manner and within budget, the Remuneration Committee

may reward the Executive Directors with a cash bonus during the annual salary review.

These bonuses are not a pre-determined amount or pool linked to an incentive arrangement, but a post-outcome

reward assessed on actual performance. It is considered that a bonus is paid for exceptional performance and not as a

regular portion of the remuneration package of Key Management Personnel. It is believed that short-term incentives can

cause a short-term focus and could be detrimental to the long-term growth of the Company and those ensuing benefits

to shareholders.

(b)(ii)Variable Remuneration – Long-Term Incentives

Long-term incentives are predominantly provided through participation in the Company’s Employee Share Option

Scheme.

The objective of the Employee Share Option Scheme is to reward employees in a manner which aligns them with those

of the shareholders of the Company.

Additional details of the Employee Share Option Scheme can be found at Note 23 to the Financial Statements.

The Employee Share Option Scheme is open to all employees and allocations are made at the discretion of the

Remuneration Committee and the Board, in terms of both amounts and timing. In general, larger allocations are made

to senior executives who have a greater impact on the direction, management and performance of the Company.

During and since the end of the financial year, no share options have been granted to Directors and other Key

Management Personnel of the Company.
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

B. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE COMPONENTS AND AMOUNT OF COMPENSATION Continued

(c) Special Benefits

The Company may grant a special benefit to an employee in certain circumstances. These special benefits may include

house rental and/or relocation payment for employees that are being relocated to commence their employment with,

or change position within, the Company’s operations. Benefits could also include payment of spouse or family travel

when accompanying an executive on Company business.

Special Benefits are not considered to be a regular part of a Key Management Person’s remuneration, but are granted

due to irregular special circumstances referable to the person’s employment or work with the Company.

C. COMPANY PERFORMANCE

The following table shows the performance of the Company over the past five years based on several key indicators:

Financial Years Ended 30 June

2007 2006 2005 2004(1) 2003(1)

Diluted Earnings per Share (cents) 34.4 28.7 14.0 25.6 10.4

Shareholders’ Funds ($m) 110.4 61.0 45.5 41.9 27.9

Dividends per Share (cents) 7.5 7.0 6.5 6.0 5.5

Net Profit After Tax & Minorities (A$m) 20.1 16.0 7.7 14.1 5.6

Operating Revenue (A$m) 91.8 85.7 54.6 85.1 40.8

Gold Production – Equity (ozs) 105,723 110,263 71,851 122,531 80,170

Share Price (A$/share) $2.41 $2.60 $2.43 $2.75 $1.70

Market Capitalisation (A$m) 152 142 132 145 90

Please note: (1) Details for the financial years 2004 and prior were prepared in accordance with AGAAP accounting standards

existing before the adoptions of AIFRS accounting standards. AIFRS accounting standards have been applied for the 2005

financial year (as restated above) and for subsequent financial years.

D. DETAILS OF DIRECTOR AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

Compensation packages contain the following key elements:

(a) Short Term Employee Benefits: salary/fees, bonuses allowances and non-monetary benefits including the provision of fully

maintained motor vehicles, insurance benefits;

(b) Post-employment benefits: including superannuation and prescribed retirement benefits;

(c) Equity: share options granted under the Employee Share Option Scheme as disclosed in Note 22 to the Financial

Statements: and
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The following table discloses the compensation of the Directors of the Company:

2007 Short-term Employee Benefits Post-Employment Benefits Equity

Cash Cash Other Cash Non-Monetary Super- Retirement Share Based(d) 

Salary & Fees Bonus(b) Benefits(c) Benefits(a) annuation Benefits Payments Total

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

T D McKeith 357,000 - - 14,039 32,130 - 306,685 709,854

J L C Jones 310,625 60,000 46,223 1,727 27,956 - - 446,531

K K Nilsson 297,156 60,000 - 11,894 26,744 - - 395,794

P A K Naylor 60,000 - - - 5,400 - - 65,400

D E Clarke 60,000 - - - 5,400 - - 65,400

J A S Dow 60,000 - - - - - 31,820 91,820

Total 1,144,781 120,000 46,223 27,660 97,630 - 338,505 1,774,799

Cash bonuses as a percentage of the total compensation are:

JLC Jones 13.4%

K K Nilsson 15.2%

(a) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as travel and the provision of fully maintained motor vehicles and fuel and relocation expenses. The
amounts include amounts paid for Fringe Benefits Tax, where applicable.

(b) Messrs JLC Jones and KK Nilsson were granted a cash bonus of $60,000 each in the 2006/2007 year, following a review by the Remuneration Committee.
The bonus is in recognition of their contribution to the successful operation of the Sertão mine and the Company during the 2005/2006 year.

(c) Mr JLC Jones received a motor vehicle allowance of $46,223 for the year.
(d) Options were valued using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.

2006 Short-term Employee Benefits Post-Employment Benefits Equity

Cash Cash Other Cash Non-Monetary Super- Retirement Share Based(e) 

Salary & Fees Bonus(d) Benefits(f) Benefits(c) annuation Benefits Payments Total

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

T D McKeith (a) 87,500 - - 87,477 7,875 - 439,787 622,639

J L C Jones 286,048 60,000 43,598 - 31,228 - - 420,874

K K Nilsson 273,645 60,000 - 8,785 28,237 - - 370,667

P A K Naylor 60,000 - - - 5,400 - - 65,400

D E Clarke 114,826(g) - - - 5,400 - - 120,226

J A S Dow (b) 22,500 - - - - - 12,119 34,619

Total 844,519 120,000 43,598 96,262 78,140 - 451,906 1,634,425

Cash bonuses as a percentage of the total compensation are:

J L C Jones 14.4%

K K Nilsson 16.3%

(a) Appointed 3 April 2006
(b) Appointed 15 February 2006
(c) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as travel and the provision of fully maintained motor vehicles and fuel and relocation expenses. The

amounts include amounts paid for Fringe Benefits Tax, where applicable. 
(d) Messrs J L C Jones and K K Nilsson were granted a cash bonus of $60,000 each in the 2005/2006 year, following a review by the Remuneration

Committee. The bonus is in recognition of their contribution to the successful operation of the Sertao mine and the Company during the 2004/2005
year.

(e) Options and Partly Paid Shares were valued using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. Mr McKeith’s Share Based Payments includes the fair value of
350,000 Partly Paid Shares issued to him at an exercise price of $3.60 and paid to $0.30.

(f) Mr JLC Jones received a motor vehicle allowance of $43,598 for the year.
(g) Includes $54,826 paid to a related party for consulting services provided to the Consolidated Entity.
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

D. DETAILS OF DIRECTOR AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION Continued

The following table discloses the compensation of other Key Management Personnel of Troy Resources NL during the year:

2007 Short-Term Employee Benefits Post-Employment Benefits Equity

Cash Cash Other Cash Non-Monetary Super- Retirement Share Based(c)

Salary & Fees Bonus Benefits Benefits(b) annuation Benefits Payments Total

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

P J Doyle 184,800 - - - 81,600 - 75,325 341,725

K D Ross 150,625 - - 11,390 59,336 - 39,945 261,296

G F Kaczmarek 175,458 - 24,542 13,739 18,000 - 1,577 233,316

G E Cheong(a) 98,836 - 75,832 - 8,895 - - 183,563

G K Brennan 170,000 - - - 15,300 - - 185,300

Total 779,719 - 100,374 25,129 183,131 - 116,847 1,205,200

(a) Resigned 7 December 2006, other cash benefits include accrued leave entitlements.
(b) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as travel and the provision of fully maintained motor vehicles and fuel and relocation expenses. The

amounts include amounts paid for Fringe Benefits Tax, where applicable.
(c) Options were valued using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.

2006 Short-Term Employee Benefits Post-Employment Benefits Equity

Cash Cash Other Cash Non-Monetary Super- Retirement Share Based(c)

Salary & Fees Bonus Benefits Benefits(b) annuation Benefits Payments Total

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

P J Doyle(a) 159,998 - - - 68,000 - 143,812 371,810

K D Ross 113,000 - - 6,565 82,170 - 18,503 220,238

G F Kaczmarek 163,320 - - 11,333 12,696 - 12,972 200,321

G E Cheong 179,615 - - - 16,165 - - 195,780

L J Skotsch 156,000 - - 9,827 14,040 - 10,675 190,542

Total 771,933 - - 27,725 193,071 - 185,962 1,178,691

(a) Appointed 18 July 2005
(b) Includes the value of non-cash benefits such as travel and the provision of fully maintained motor vehicles and fuel and relocation expenses. The

amounts include amounts paid for Fringe Benefits Tax, where applicable. 
(c) Options were valued using the Binomial Option Pricing Model.
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E. VALUE OF OPTIONS ISSUED TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The following options were granted, vested, exercised or lapsed in relation to Key Management Personnel during the 2007 year:

2007 Options Options Options Total Value of Percentage

Granted Exercised Lapsed value of options of total

options included in remuneration 

granted, remuneration for the year

Value at Value at Value at exercised for the that consists

grant date exercise date time of lapse and lapsed (1) year (2) of options

Name $ $ $ $ $ %

Key Management Personnel

T D McKeith - - - - 306,685 43.2

P J Doyle - - - - 75,325 22.0

K D Ross - - - - 39,945 15.3

G F Kaczmarek - - - - 1,577 0.7

Non-Executive Directors

J A S Dow - - - - 31,820 34.7

Value of options – basis of calculation:
(1) The total value of options granted, exercised and lapsed is calculated based on the following:

• Fair value of the option at grant date multiplied by the number of options granted during the year; plus
• Fair value of the option at the time it is exercised multiplied by the number of options exercised during the year; plus
• Fair value of the option at the time of lapse multiplied by the number of options lapsed during the year.

(2) The total value of options included in compensation for the year is calculated in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 124 “Related Party
Disclosures. This requires the following:
• The value of the options is determined at grant date and is included in remuneration on a proportionate basis as vesting occurs.
• The options vest over a period of time, therefore, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 2 “Share Based Payments” only the portion of

the total fair value of the options at vesting date is included in remuneration for the financial year.

The following options were granted, vested, exercised or lapsed in relation to Key Management Personnel during the 2006 year:

2006 Options Options Options Total Value Percentage

Granted Exercised Lapsed value of of options of total 

options included in remuneration 

granted, remuneration for the year

Value at Value at Value at exercised for the that consists 

grant date exercise date time of lapse and lapsed (3) year (4) of options

Name $ $ $ $ $ %

Key Management Personnel

T D McKeith 933,015 - - 933,015 439,787 70.6

P J Doyle 251,710 - - 251,710 143,812 38.7

K D Ross 81,943 - - 81,943 18,503 8.4

G F Kaczmarek - 80,365 (1) - 80,365 12,972 6.5

L J Skotsch - 23,700 (2) - 23,700 10,675 5.6

Non-Executive Directors

J A S Dow 54,866 - - 54,866 12,119 35.0

Value of options – basis of calculation:
(1) These options were granted on 10 August 2002 and 29 August 2003.
(2) These options were granted on 29 August 2003.
(3) The total value of options granted, exercised and lapsed is calculated based on the following:

• Fair value of the option at grant date multiplied by the number of options granted during the year; plus
• Fair value of the option at the time it is exercised multiplied by the number of options exercised during the year; plus
• Fair value of the option at the time of lapse multiplied by the number of options lapsed during the year.

(4) The total value of options included in compensation for the year is calculated in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 124 “Related Party
Disclosures. This requires the following:
• The value of the options is determined at grant date and is included in remuneration on a proportionate basis as vesting occurs.
• The options vest over a period of time, therefore, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 2 “Share Based Payments” only the portion of

the total fair value of the options at vesting date is included in remuneration for the financial year.
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F. EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS

The only Key Management Person with an employment contract at 30 June 2007 was Mr T D McKeith who was appointed as a

Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 3 April 2006. The major provisions of his contract are as follows:-

• No fixed term;

• Base salary from 3 April 2006 of $350,000 per annum to be reviewed annually effective 1 July each year with a minimum

increase equal to the Australian CPI rate for the year;

• The grant of 500,000 options under the Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option Scheme;

• The issue of 350,000 unlisted, non-transferable partly paid shares in the Company. These shares have an issue price of $3.60

and are paid to $0.30. the Company has agreed not to call the unpaid portion within 5 years from 3 April 2006, i.e. 3 April

2011;

• Payment of a termination benefit by the Company, other than for serious misconduct, equal to the cash equivalent of 6

months of Mr McKeith’s base salary at that time;

• In the event of a change of control of the Company in which Mr McKeith has been instrumental, he will be entitled to a bonus

payment equal to one year’s of his then current base salary.

Mr T D McKeith has resigned as Chief Executive Officer of Troy with effect from 30 September 2007 thereby terminating the

above contract. Mr McKeith has accepted an offer from the board to continue with Troy as a Non-Executive Director for up to 1

year to facilitate a handover to his successor. Mr McKeith’s appointment as a Non- Executive director is to be confirmed by

shareholders at the coming Annual General Meeting.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The auditor of the Company and its subsidiaries is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Company has a policy in accordance with

Corporate Governance best practice that the tax services and other general accounting advice and services, should not be

performed by the Company’s auditor. However, the Company may employ the auditor on assignments additional to their

statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Consolidated Entity are

important and closely related to their work as auditor of the Company.

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the

auditor is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature

and scope of non-audit services provided do not compromise the independence of the auditor.

A copy of the auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on

page 49.

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for audit and non-audit services provided during the financial year are outlined

in Note 21 to the Financial Statements.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that

Class Order amounts in the Directors' Report and the Financial Report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars.

Signed at West Perth, Western Australia, this 21st day of September 2007 in accordance with a resolution of Directors made

pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources NL

J L C JONES

CHAIRMAN
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Revenue 3 91,761 85,664 73,855 43,509

Cost of sales (48,961) (37,909) (37,640) (22,327)

Gross Profit 42,800 47,755 36,215 21,182

Other income 3 2,792 4,052 6,581 12,035

Exploration expenses 4 (7,402) (8,486) (3,290) (3,247)

Administration expenses (8,560) (7,734) (5,421) (5,358)

Corporate activity expenses 4 (715) (3,769) (703) (3,659)

Other expenses 4 - - (4,641) (1,343)

Finance costs 4 (99) (69) (99) (57)

Profit Before Tax 28,816 31,749 28,642 19,553

Income tax expense 5 (7,356) (11,734) (9,211) (4,226)

Profit for the year 21,460 20,015 19,431 15,327

(Profit) attributable to minority interests (1,360) (4,059) - -

Profit Attributable to Members of the Parent Entity 20,100 15,956 19,431 15,327

Earnings Per Share

Basic (cents per share) 18 34.5 28.8

Diluted (cents per share) 18 34.4 28.7

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 54 to 96.

I N C O M E  S T A T E M E N T
For the financial year ended 30 June 2007

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

B A L A N C E  S H E E T
as at 30 June 2007

Page 51

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 6 47,303 33,397 41,445 26,833

Trade and other receivables 7 1,469 3,451 833 778

Other financial assets 8 6,637 1,434 6,637 1,396

Inventories 9 8,583 10,355 7,107 8,470

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 63,992 48,637 56,022 37,481

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 10 32,237 16,466 9,332 13,843

Exploration and evaluation 11 477 412 318 320

Loans to subsidiaries - - 1,724 2,181

Investments in subsidiaries - - 13,834 882

Other financial assets 8 39,925 10,816 38,891 10,816

Deferred tax assets 5 984 1,786 984 1,714

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 73,623 29,480 66,083 29,756

TOTAL ASSETS 137,615 78,117 122,105 67,237

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 12 4,950 3,984 3,545 3,087

Current tax payables 5 8,983 4,914 8,088 1,458

Provisions 13 3,078 3,268 2,360 2,487

Other liabilities 1,167 1,284 1,167 1,284

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 18,178 13,450 15,160 8,316

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities 5 8,123 3,294 2,313 3,294

Provisions 13 871 330 423 330

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,994 3,624 2,736 3,624

TOTAL LIABILITIES 27,172 17,074 17,896 11,940

NET ASSETS 110,443 61,043 104,209 55,297

EQUITY

Issued Capital 15 45,162 23,442 45,162 23,442

Reserves 16 15,327 3,196 13,032 1,392

Retained earnings 17 48,674 32,453 46,015 30,463

Parent interest 109,163 59,091 104,209 55,297

Minority interest 1,280 1,952 - -

TOTAL EQUITY 110,443 61,043 104,209 55,297

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 54 to 96.
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Total equity at the beginning of year 61,043 45,462 55,297 41,879

Changes in fair value of available-for-sale assets, net of tax 11,366 342 11,366 342

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 491 788 - -

Net income recognised directly in equity 11,857 1,130 11,366 342

Profit for the year 20,100 15,956 19,431 15,327

Total recognised income and expense for the year 93,000 62,548 86,094 57,548

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as

Equity holders:

Share placement of fully paid shares 11,667 - 11,667 -

Issue of shares on conversion of options 460 312 460 312

Partly paid shares converted to ordinary shares 247 106 247 106

Issue of Partly Paid shares - 105 - 105

Issue of shares as part consideration for acquisition

of investment securities 9,100 - 9,100 -

Share-based payment 554 824 554 824

Dividends paid (3,913) (3,598) (3,913) (3,598)

Changes in minority interest in equity (672) 746 - -

Total equity at the end of the year 110,443 61,043 104,209 55,297

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 54 to 96.

S T A T E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  E Q U I T Y  
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 95,393 90,267 77,372 47,309

Payments to suppliers and employees (57,408) (60,903) (42,976) (36,320)

Income taxes (paid)/refund (3,940) (4,434) (3,306) 1,307

Interest and other costs of finance paid (45) - (45)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 33(b) 34,000 24,930 31,045 12,296

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for purchase of tenements (67) (74) - (1)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 230 117 55 52

Payments for property, plant and equipment (3,923) (8,640) (2,209) (4,913)

Proceeds on sale of investment securities 4,989 534 4,989 529

Loans from/(to) subsidiaries - - (4,076) (1,660)

Payment for increased investment in subsidiary - - - (267)

Payments for purchase of investment securities (18,075) (7,342) (18,075) (7,338)

Dividend received - - 4,519 8,718

Interest received 2,128 1,975 1,626 1,413

Payments for subsidiary (net of cash acquired) 28 (11,736) - (11,736) -

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary - 9 - -

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES (26,454) (13,421) (24,907) (3,467)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of shares 12,374 525 12,374 525

Dividends paid - members of the parent entity (3,898) (3,658) (3,898) (3,658)

Dividends paid - minority interests (2,032) (3,313) - -

NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 6,444 (6,446) 8,476 (3,133)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,990 5,063 14,614 5,696

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

financial year 33,397 27,821 26,833 21,214

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance

of cash held in foreign currencies (84) 513 (2) (77)

Cash and cash equivalents

at the end of the financial year 33(a) 47,303 33,397 41,445 26,833

Notes to the Financial Statements are included on pages 54 to 96.
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Page 54

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of

the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law.

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance

with A-IFRS ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated entity comply with International

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The parent entity financial statements and notes also comply with IFRS except for

the disclosure requirements in IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ as the Australian equivalent

Accounting Standards, AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ does not require such disclosures to

be presented by the parent entity where its separate financial statements are presented together with the consolidated

financial statements of the consolidated entity.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors at a meeting held on 21 September 2007.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets

and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

In the application of the group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and

assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates

and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these

estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of the group’s accounting policies that have significant effects on the

financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where

applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the

concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is

reported. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key accounting judgements and assumptions, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the

balance sheet date and concerning the future, that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

financial statements and/or have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year:

Ore Reserve Estimates

Estimates of recoverable quantities of ore reserves include assumptions regarding commodity prices, exchange rates,

discount rates, and production costs for future cash flows. It also requires interpretation of complex and difficult geological

models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality of resources and their anticipated recoveries.

The economic, geological and technical factors used to estimate ore reserves may change from period to period. Changes

in reported ore reserves can impact mining properties carrying values, property, plant and equipment carrying values, the

provision for restoration and the recognition of deferred tax assets, due to changes in expected future cash flows. Ore

reserves are integral to the amount of depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to the income statement and the

calculation of inventory.

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S  
for the financial year ended 30 June 2007
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Rehabilitation obligations

The Consolidated entity estimates the future removal costs of mine operations disturbances at the time of installation of the

assets and commencement of operations. In most instances, removal of assets occurs many years into the future. This

requires judgemental assumptions regarding removal date, the extent of reclamation activities required the engineering

methodology for estimating cost, future removal technologies in determining the removal cost, and asset specific discount

rates to determine the present value of these cash flows.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following significant policies have been adopted in the preparation of the Financial Report:- 

(a) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash within two working

days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are carried at the principal amount. Interest is recognised as

income or expense as it accrues.

(b) RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment.

(c) INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Ore stockpiles, gold in circuit and bullion are valued

applying absorption costing.

(d) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and Equipment

Items of plant and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Items of plant and equipment, including buildings and leasehold property are depreciated/amortised using the straight-line

or reducing balance method over their estimated useful lives. Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of

acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.

The depreciation and amortisation rates used for each class of asset are based on the following assessment of useful lives:-

• Plant and equipment 2-12 years

• Motor Vehicle 2-7 years

Depreciation is not charged on land. Land is recorded at cost.

Mining Assets

Mining Assets represent the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred by or on

behalf of the Consolidated Entity and mining properties in relation to areas of interest. 

Mining Exploration

Refer to 1(f) below. If it is established that a project has reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence

of economically recoverable reserves, exploration and evaluation costs ceases and the accumulated expenditures are

transferred to mining development properties.

Mining Development Properties

Refer to 1(e) below. Development costs related to an area of interest where right of tenure is current are carried forward to

the extent that they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful exploitation of the area of interest. If an area is

subsequently abandoned or the Directors believe that it is not commercial, any accumulated costs in respect of that area are

written off in the financial period the decision is made. 

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7
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Page 56

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

(e) MINING DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Where mining of a mineral resource has commenced, the accumulated costs are transferred to mine properties. Amortisation

is first charged on new mining ventures from the date of first commercial production.

Amortisation of mine property costs is provided on the unit of production basis. The unit of production basis results in an

amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves. The unit of

production basis can be on a tonnes or ounce depleted basis.

Also refer to Note 1(d) above regarding Property, Plant and Equipment.

(f) MINING EXPLORATION

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Consolidated Entity is accumulated separately for

each prospect area. Such expenditure comprises net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead

expenditure, but does not include general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific nexus with a

particular prospect area. Each area of interest is limited to a size related to a known or probable mineral resource capable

of supporting a mining operation.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each prospect area is fully written off in the financial year in which it is incurred,

unless its recoupment out of revenue to be derived from the successful development of the prospect, or from sale of that

prospect, is reasonably assured.

The recoverable amount of each prospect area is assessed annually by the Directors. Where the carrying value of a prospect

is in excess of its estimated recoverable amount, the carrying value is written down to its recoverable amount.

When a prospect area is abandoned, any expenditure carried forward in respect of that area is written off to earnings.

Expenditure is not carried forward in respect of any prospect area unless the economic entity’s rights of tenure to that area

are current.

Once a development decision has been taken, all exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the prospect area is

transferred to "Mining Development Properties".

(g) FINANCIAL ASSETS

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract

whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially

measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss

The consolidated entity has classified certain shares and options as other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets held for trading purposes are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain

or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares held by the consolidated entity are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value less

impairment. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the available-for-sale revaluation

reserve, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss

previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for the period.

(h) ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Consolidated Entity becomes obliged to make future

payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.
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T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



(i) PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economics benefits

is probable, and the provision can be measured reliably. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the

consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties

surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,

its carrying value is the present value of those cash flows. When some, or all, of the economic benefits required to settle a

provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that

recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(j) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, and

sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal

values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits, which are not expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured as

the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Consolidated Entity in respect of services

provided by employees up to reporting date.

The Company and its subsidiaries contribute to a defined contribution superannuation plan. Contributions to defined

contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.

(k) BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are

measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being

recognised in profit and loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method.

Interest and ancillary costs incurred in connection with borrowings for the development of specific assets are deferred and

amortised or depreciated over the life of the project.

(l) INCOME TAX

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit

or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid

(or refundable).

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences

arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the

corresponding tax base of those items. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against

which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets

and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets

and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination), which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.

Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and joint

ventures except where the Consolidated Entity is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable

that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only

recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of

the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

Page 57

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Page 58

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

(l) INCOME TAX Continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset

and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax

consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Consolidated Entity expects, at the reporting date, to recover

or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the

company/Consolidated Entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items

credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity.

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under Australian

taxation law. Troy Resources NL is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group. Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities

and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in

the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within the

group’ approach by reference to the carrying amounts in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values

applying under tax consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and

relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the company (as head entity in the tax-

consolidated group).

(m) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY THE COMPANY

Debt and Equity Instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual

arrangement.

Transaction Costs on the Issue of Equity Instruments

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds

of the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection

with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been incurred had those instruments not been issued.

(n) FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Translation of Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the Consolidated Entity are converted to local currency at the rate of

exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date are translated using the spot rate at the end of

the financial year.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except that:

• Exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use are included in the cost of

those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings;

• Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks;

• Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is

neither planned or likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, are recognised in the

foreign currency translation reserve and recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.

Foreign Operations

The functional currency of the Consolidated Entity’s overseas operations differs to that of the Consolidated Entity’s

presentational currency. On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Consolidated Entity’s overseas operations are
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translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average

exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any, are

recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve, and recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

(o) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of mineral production is recognised when the Consolidated Entity has passed risks and rewards of the

mineral production to the buyer and a price has been set.

Fees from Related Parties

The Fees from Related Parties refers to the Toll Milling Fee charged by Troy Resources NL to its wholly owned subsidiary,

Wirraminna Gold NL, under the Sandstone Joint Venture which is recognised on an accrual basis. These fees are incurred at

a company level only and eliminate upon consolidation.

(p) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

(i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of

acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of the cash flows arising from

investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation office is classified as operating cash flows.

(q) BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, amortisation of ancillary

costs incurred in connection with arrangement of borrowings and lease finance charges, exchange differences arising from

foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred unless they relate to qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are assets, which take

more than 12 months to get ready for their intended use or sale. In these circumstances, borrowing costs are capitalised to

the cost of the assets. Where funds are borrowed specifically for the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying

asset, the amount of borrowing costs capitalised is those incurred in relation to that borrowing, net of any interest earned

on those borrowings. Where funds are borrowed generally, borrowing costs are capitalised using a weighted average

capitalisation rate. Interest charges are capitalised to the extent that the related debt directly finances the purchase and

construction of plant. Interest charges cease to be capitalised when the expenditure no longer satisfies the above policy or

when production commences.

(r) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Employee Share Option Plan.

Share options granted before 7 November 2002 or granted after 7 November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

No expense is recognised in respect of these options. The shares are recognised when the options are exercised and the

proceeds are received allocated to share capital.

Share options granted after 7 November 2002 and vested after 1 January 2005

The fair value of options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with

a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value of the options are calculated at the date of grant using a Binomial model

and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The expected life used in the

model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions,

and behavioural considerations. Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to

those options is transferred to share capital.
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Page 60

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

(s) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that comprise

the Consolidated Entity, being the Company (the parent entity) and its subsidiaries as defined in Accounting Standard AASB

127 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’. Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and

presentation of the consolidated financial statements. The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s

proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised. 

The consolidated Financial Statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which the

Company obtains control and until such time as the Company ceases to control that entity. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised profits arising

within the Consolidated Entity are eliminated in full.

(t) JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS

The economic entity’s interest in joint ventures is brought to account by including in their respective classification categories

the amount of:

(i) the economic entity’s share in each of the individual assets employed in the joint ventures;

(ii) liabilities incurred in relation to joint ventures including the economic entity’s share of liabilities for which it is jointly

and/or severally liable; and

(iii) the economic entity’s share of expenses incurred in relation to the joint ventures.

(u) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the business

combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or

assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly

attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the

condition for recognition under AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’ are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date,

except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 ‘Non-current

Assets Held for Sale and Discounted Operations’, which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the

business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,

liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of

the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

(v) IMPAIRMENT

At each reporting date, the Consolidated Entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,

the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the

asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Consolidated Entity estimates the

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future

cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the

asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised

estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying

amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

(w) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

entity for the reporting period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity (other than ordinary shares and converting

preference shares treated as ordinary shares for EPS calculation purposes), by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares of the Company, adjusted for any bonus issue.

Diluted Earnings per Share

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic earnings per share, adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of conversion to ordinary shares

associated with dilutive potential shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary

shares adjusted for any bonus issue.

(x) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices from its

activities. The Consolidated Entity may use forward foreign exchange contracts, forward commodity exchange contracts and

put and call options to hedge its foreign exchange rate and commodity risk. Derivative financial instruments are not held for

speculative purposes.

Derivatives are initially recorded at the relevant rate at the date of the transaction. Derivatives outstanding at balance date

are valued at the fair value ruling on that day and any gains or losses are brought to account in the income statement, unless

hedge accounting is applied whereupon the treatment will depend on whether it is classified as a fair value hedge or cash

flow hedge. The Consolidated Entity designates certain derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or

liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges) and hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

Fair Value Hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivates that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the profit and loss

immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Hedge accounting is discounted when the hedge instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised, or no longer qualifies

for hedge accounting. The adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedge item arising from the hedged risk is amortised

to the profit and loss from that date.

Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are

deferred in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer

qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and

is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer

expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Where certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of those derivatives are

recognised immediately in the profit and loss.

Embedded Derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks

and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair value

with changes in fair value recognised in the profit and loss.
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Page 62

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian

Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting

period. The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations has resulted in changes to the Group’s

accounting policies in the following areas that have affected the amounts reported for the current or prior years: 

• Investments classified as at fair value through profit or loss (AASB 2005-04 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting

Standards’)

• Financial guarantee contracts (AASB 2005-09 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’), and

• Rights to cash reimbursement for expenditure required to settle a provision (AASB 2005-5 ‘Amendments to Australian

Accounting Standards’)

The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations has also resulted in a change to the Group’s

accounting policies in relation to business combinations involving entities under common control. Such business

combinations were formerly within the scope of AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’, but are now scoped out of that Standard

by AASB 2005-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’.

The impact of these changes in accounting policies is discussed in detail later in this note. The impact on basic and diluted

earnings per share is nil.

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet

effective:

Effective for annual Expected to be 

reporting periods initially applied in the 

Standard / Interpretation beginning on or after financial year ending

AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ and consequential 
amendments to other accounting standards resulting from its issue 1 January 2007 30 June 2008

AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments‘ 1 January 2009 30 June 2010

AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ – revised standard 1 January 2007 30 June 2008

AASB 123 ‘Borrowing Costs’ – revised standard 1 January 2009 30 June 2010

AASB 2007-1 “Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB Interpretation 11’ 1 March 2007 30 June 2008

AASB 2007-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB Interpretation 12’ 1 January 2008 30 June 2009

AASB 2007-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from ED 151 and other amendments’ 1 July 2007 30 June 2008

AASB 2007-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 123’ 1 January 2009 30 June 2010

AASB 2007-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ 1 July 2007 30 June 2008

AASB Interpretation 10 ‘Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment’ 1 November 2006 30 June 2008

AASB Interpretation 11 ‘AASB 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions’ 1 March 2007 30 June 2008

AASB Interpretation 12 ‘Service Concession Arrangements’ 1 January 2008 30 June 2009

AASB Interpretation 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ 1 July 2008 30 June 2009

AASB Interpretation 14 ‘AASB 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’ 1 January 2008 30 June 2009

The Directors note that the impact of the initial application of the Standards and Interpretations is not yet known or is not

reasonably estimable. These Standards and Interpretations will be first applied in the financial report of the Group that

relates to the annual reporting period beginning on or after the effective date of each pronouncement.
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LIMITATION OF ABILITY TO DESIGNATE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) released AASB 2005-04 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting

Standards’ in June 2005. AASB 2005-4 amends AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ by limiting

the ability of entities to designate any financial asset or financial liability as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’. 

Financial assets that can no longer be designated as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ are now classified into either loans

and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale investments, as appropriate, and measured at amortised

cost or at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in equity, according to their classification. Financial liabilities that

can no longer be designated as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ are classified as ‘other’ financial liabilities and measured

at amortised cost. Although ordinarily the designation of a financial asset as available-for sale is made on initial recognition,

the transitional provisions of the Standard allow such designation to be made on the date of de-designation (1 July 2005).

The changes introduced by AASB 2005-4 are applied by the Group with effect from the beginning of the comparative

reporting period presented in this financial report (i.e. with effect from 1 July 2005). Financial assets and financial liabilities

designated by the company and the Group as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ continue to meet the revised designation

rules and, accordingly the application of these amendments has no impact on the financial statements.

ACCOUNTING FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The AASB released AASB 2005-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ in September 2005. AASB 2005-9

amends AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ to require certain financial guarantee contracts to

be recognised in accordance with AASB 139 and measured initially at their fair values, and subsequently measured at the

higher of the amount recognised as a provision and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

The changes introduced by AASB 2005-9 are applied by the Group with effect from the beginning of the comparative

reporting period presented in this financial report (i.e. with effect 1 July 2005). The Group was not party to any financial

guarantee contracts which resulted in changes to the financial statements for the current or comparative year.

ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS COMBINATIONS INVOLVING ENTITIES OR BUSINESSES UNDER COMMON CONTROL

The AASB released AASB 2005-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ in June 2006. AASB 2005-6 amends

AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’ by removing business combinations involving entities or business under common control

from its scope. The effect of the scope amendment is that there is no longer any explicit guidance under Accounting

Standards as to how to account for these types of business combinations.

Due to the requirements of AASB 1 ‘First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting

Standards’ permitting the non-restatement of pre-transition business combinations, the amendment has no effect on the

financial statements of the company or Group for the current or prior reporting periods. However, future transactions

involving entities under common control will be affected.
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

3. REVENUE

Operating Revenue

Gold sales 91,761 85,664 73,855 43,509

Other Income

Interest revenue from: non-related parties 2,128 2,002 1,626 1,441

Fees revenue from: related parties - - - 1,089

Dividend received: related parties - - 4,519 8,718

Gain on sale of investment securities 286 - 286 -

Increment in fair value of financial

assets through profit & loss 54 740 54 740

Gain on sale of plant and equipment 46 43 1 43

Net foreign currency exchange gains - 366 - -

Other income 278 901 95 4

2,792 4,052 6,581 12,035

4. EXPENSES

Exploration expenses 7,402 8,486 3,290 3,247

Borrowing Costs 99 69 99 57

Depreciation of plant & equipment

- Cost of sales 3,064 2,891 2,501 1,806

- Administration expenses 601 516 312 317

3,665 3,407 2,813 2,123

Amortisation of mining properties 4,128 3,729 3,853 2,627

Government royalties 2,065 1,380 1,894 1,005

Loss on sale of investment securities - 408 - 408

Mark-to market hedging loss - 2,374 - 2,374

Net foreign currency exchange losses 161 - 149 53

Share based payments 554 824 554 824

Write down of subsidiaries to recoverable amount - - 4,641 1,343

Discontinued operations - 163 - -
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

5. INCOME TAX

a. INCOME TAX RECOGNISED IN PROFIT OR LOSS

Current tax expense

Current year – income tax charge 10,638 8,838 10,083 1,458

Subsidiary loss brought in upon tax consolidation - - - (128)

Under / (over) provision from the prior years:

Australia (147) - (147) -

Brazil (2,485) - - -

Other 3 (3) - 3

8,009 8,835 9,936 1,333

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (929) 2,573 (929) 2,567

Under / (over) provision from the prior year 276 326 204 326

(653) 2,899 (725) 2,893

Total Income Tax expense in the income statement 7,356 11,734 9,211 4,226

Numerical Reconciliation of tax expenses 

to prima facie tax Payable

Profit before tax 28,816 31,749 28,642 19,553

At the Group’s statutory tax rates of 

Australia: 30% and Brazil:34% 8,891 10,383 8,593 5,866

Difference in income tax expense due to:

Foreign dividends received - - (1,356) (2,616)

Share based payments 166 247 166 247

Non deductible foreign exploration 239 193 239 193

Non deductible expenses 119 250 119 25

Write-down of subsidiaries to recoverable amount - - 1,392 403

Subsidiary loss brought in upon tax consolidation - - - (128)

First time recognition of capital losses - (149) - (149)

Foreign subsidiaries – Losses not recognised 421 538 - -

Brazil tax credit for prior year (2,485) - - -

Under / (over) provisions from the prior year 129 326 57 326

Other (124) (54) 1 59

Income tax expense on pre-tax profit 7,356 11,734 9,211 4,226

Deferred income tax related to items charged 

or credited directly to equity

Revaluation of Available for sale investments 474 395 474 395

Revaluation of Foreign development properties 245 - - -

719 395 474 295
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5. INCOME TAX Continued

b. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS / (LIABILITIES) ARISE FROM THE FOLLOWING: FROM THE FOLLOWING:

CONSOLIDATED 2007 2006

Opening Charged Charged Acquisitions Closing Closing 

Balance to Income to Equity / Disposals Balance Balance

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Consumable inventories (111) (43) (154) (111)

Plant and equipment (47) (6) (53) (47)

Capitalised mining and exploration costs (2,638) 1,471 (245) (5,565) (6,977) (2,638)

Mark to market of investments (443) 48 (474) (869) (443)

Inventory 413 (350) 63 413

Provision for employee entitlements 

and rehabilitation 621 200 821 621

Deferred loss on hedged commodity contracts 385 (385) - 385

Revenue loss bought in upon tax consolidation 128 (128) - 128

Capital tax losses 149 (135) 14 149

Other (net) 35 (19) 16 35

(1,508) 653 (719) (5,565) (7,139) (1,508)

Presented in balance sheet as follows:

Deferred tax assets 984 1,786

Deferred tax liabilities (8,123) (3,294)

(7,139) (1,508)

COMPANY 2007 2006

Opening Charged Charged Acquisitions Closing Closing 

Balance to Income to Equity / Disposals Balance Balance

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Consumable inventories (111) (43) (154) (111)

Plant and equipment (47) (6) (53) (47)

Capitalised mining and exploration costs (2,638) 1,471 (1,167) (2,638)

Mark to market of investments (443) 48 (474) (869) (443)

Inventory 413 (350) 63 413

Provision for employee entitlements 

and rehabilitation 621 200 821 621

Deferred loss on hedged commodity contracts 385 (385) - 385

Revenue loss bought in upon tax consolidation 128 (128) - 128

Capital tax losses 149 (135) 14 149

Other (net) (37) 53 16 (37)

(1,580) 725 (474) - (1,329) (1,580)

Presented in balance sheet as follows:

Deferred tax assets 984 1,714

Deferred tax liabilities (2,313) (3,294)

(1,329) (1,580)
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c. TAX BALANCES

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Current Tax Assets - - - -

Deferred Tax Assets 984 1,786 984 1,714

Current Tax Payables 8,983 4,914 8,088 1,458

Deferred Tax Liabilities 8,123 3,294 2,313 3,294

Tax consolidation

Relevance of tax consolidation to the consolidated entity

Troy Resources NL and its only wholly-owned Australian resident subsidiary, Wirraminna Gold NL, have formed a tax-

consolidated group with effect from 1 July 2003 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity

within the tax consolidated group is Troy Resources NL. Members of the group have not entered into a tax sharing

arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In the absence

of such an agreement, the subsidiaries are joint and severally liable for the income tax liabilities of the head entity should

the head entity default on its payment obligations. At balance date the likelihood of default is remote. 

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements

Entities within the tax consolidated group have not entered into a tax funding arrangement. 

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CURRENT)

Cash at bank or on hand 8,124 8,020 2,266 1,456

Investments in short term deposits 39,179 25,377 39,179 25,377

47,303 33,397 41,445 26,833

Investments in short term money market instruments are bearing interest at rates of 6.15% to 6.27%p.a. (2006: 

5.30% to 5.91% p.a.).

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CURRENT) 

Debtors and prepayments (1) 1,469 3,451 833 735

Loans to subsidiaries - - - 43

1,469 3,451 833 778

(1) Trade receivables operate on standard 30 to 45 day terms.

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

Page 67

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Page 68

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

8. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

CURRENT

Shares in listed corporations at fair value 6,637 1,396 6,637 1,396

Unquoted investments at cost - 38 - -

6,637 1,434 6,637 1,396

NON CURRENT

Shares in listed corporations at fair value 39,891 10,816 39,891 10,816

Unquoted investments at cost 34 - - -

39,925 10,816 39,891 10,816

The fair value of listed shares has been based on the closing share price at the end of the financial year. At the end of the

current year all listed shares are designated as available for sale.

The Consolidated Entity holds 17% of the ordinary share capital of Adelaide Resources Limited, an ASX listed company

involved in mineral exploration. This investment is designated as an available for sale current financial asset as at 30 June

2007. 

During the year the Consolidated entity acquired 16.6% of the share capital of Comaplex Minerals Corp, a Canadian listed

company involved in mineral and oil exploration and continues to holds 7.4% of Birim Goldfields Inc, a Canadian listed

company also involved in mineral exploration, primarily in Ghana in West Africa. 

The Consolidated Entity does not have a Board representation on any of these companies nor does it have any input on the

day-to-day management or operations of these companies. The Directors of the Consolidated Entity do not believe that the

Consolidated Entity exerts any significant influence over any of these companies.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

9. INVENTORIES (CURRENT)

Bullion on hand - at cost 2,079 3,291 1,148 2,273

Ore stockpiles and work in progress - at cost 5,831 6,487 5,443 5,828

Stores and raw materials - at cost 673 577 516 369

8,583 10,355 7,107 8,470
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CONSOLIDATED

Land & Plant & Motor Total

Buildings Equipment Vehicles

at cost at cost at cost

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

10. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Gross carrying amount:

Balance at 1 July 2005 108 18,948 1,748 20,804

Additions 471 5,599 641 6,711

Disposals - (68) (160) (228)

Net foreign currency exchange differences - 677 3 680

Balance at 30 June 2006 579 25,156 2,232 27,967

Additions - 2,193 407 2,600

Disposals (53) (95) (206) (354)

Net foreign currency exchange differences - (122) (6) (128)

Balance at 30 June 2007 526 27,132 2,427 30,085

Accumulated depreciation and Impairment:

Balance at 1 July 2005 - (13,583) (866) (14,449)

Depreciation expense - (3,156) (251) (3,407)

Disposals - 13 144 157

Net foreign currency exchange differences - (19) (26) (45)

Balance at 30 June 2006 - (16,745) (999) (17,744)

Depreciation expense - (3,347) (318) (3,665)

Disposals - 108 62 170

Net foreign currency exchange differences - 133 4 137

Balance at 30 June 2007 - (19,851) (1,251) (21,102)

Net book value:

As at 30 June 2006 579 8,411 1,233 10,223

As at 30 June 2007 526 7,281 1,176 8,983
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT Continued

COMPANY

Land & Plant & Motor Total

Buildings Equipment Vehicles

at cost at cost at cost

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Gross carrying amount:

Balance at 1 July 2005 108 8,866 960 9,934

Additions 471 3,822 160 4,453

Disposals - (43) (83) (126)

Balance at 30 June 2006 579 12,645 1,037 14,261

Additions - 2,047 60 2,107

Disposals (53) (1) - (54)

Balance at 30 June 2007 526 14,691 1,097 16,314

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at 1 July 2005 - (3,933) (405) (4,338)

Depreciation expense - (2,001) (122) (2,123)

Disposals - - 75 75

Balance at 30 June 2006 - (5,934) (452) (6,386)

Depreciation expense - (2,696) (117) (2,813)

Disposals - (87) - (87)

Balance at 30 June 2007 - (8,717) (569) (9,286)

Net book value:

As at 30 June 2006 579 6,711 585 7,875

As at 30 June 2007 526 5,974 528 7,028

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised

as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying amount 

of other assets during the year

Plant and equipment 3,347 3,156 2,696 2,001

Motor vehicles 318 251 117 122

Balance 3,665 3,407 2,813 2,123

Mine & development properties

Balance at start of financial year 6,243 8,337 5,968 8,129

Acquisition of Subsidiary 18,548 - - -

Transfer from Exploration and Evaluation - 210 - -

Expenditure incurred during the year 1,323 1,425 189 466

Provision for Rehabilitation 448 - - -

Amortisation expensed during year (4,128) (3,729) (3,853) (2,627)

Net foreign currency exchange differences 820 - - -

Mine & development properties at end of financial year 23,254 6,243 2,304 5,968

Property, plant & equipment 8,983 10,223 7,028 7,875

Mine & development properties 23,254 6,243 2,304 5,968

Property, plant & equipment at end of financial year 32,237 16,466 9,332 13,843

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

11. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

Gross Carrying Amount:

Balance at start of financial year 412 875 320 458

Expenditure incurred during the year 7,467 8,233 3,290 3,109

Transfer to Mine Properties - (210) - -

Expenditure written off during the year

- Previously Capitalised (2) (338) (2) (138)

- Expensed directly to profit and loss (7,400) (8,148) (3,290) (3,109)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

at end of financial year 477 412 318 320

Many of the Consolidated Entity’s Australian exploration properties are subject to claims under Native Title or may contain

sacred sites or sites of significance to aboriginal people. In the event of the National Native Title Tribunal ratifying any such

claim, the Controlled Entity’s exploration properties or areas within those tenements may be subject to exploration and/or

mining restrictions or compensation. At this time, the Controlled Entity is unable to assess the likely effect, if any, of the

claims.

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CURRENT)

Trade payables 4,080 3,670 2,675 2,778

Accrued expenses 870 314 870 309

4,950 3,984 3,545 3,087

13. PROVISIONS

CURRENT

Employee benefits 1,990 1,741 1,565 1,375

Dividends 47 33 47 33

Rehabilitation 1,041 1,292 748 997

Other - 202 - 82

3,078 3,268 2,360 2,487

NON CURRENT

Employee benefits 152 330 152 330

Rehabilitation 719 - 271 -

871 330 423 330

(a) Provision for rehabilitation

A provision for rehabilitation is recognised in relation to the mining activities for costs such as reclamation, waste site

closure, plant closure and other costs associated with the rehabilitation of a mining site. Estimates of the rehabilitation

obligations are based on anticipated technology and legal requirements and future costs, which have been discounted

to their present value. In determining the rehabilitation provision, the entity has assumed no significant changes will

occur in the relevant Federal and State legislation in relation to rehabilitation of such mines in the future.

(b) Provision for dividend

The provision for dividends represents the aggregate amount of dividends declared, determined or publicly

recommended on or before the reporting date, which remain undistributed as at reporting date, regardless of the extent

to which they are expected to be paid in cash. (Also refer to Notes 19 and 31).
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13. PROVISIONS Continued

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Rehabilitation Rehabilitation

Dividend Provision Dividend Provision

($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Balance at 1 July 2005 93 1,199 93 943

Additional provisions recognised 3,598 - 3,598 -

Interest recognised - 93 - 57

Reductions arising from payments (3,658) - (3,658) (3)

Balance at 30 June 2006 33 1,292 33 997

Additional provisions recognised 3,913 414 3,913 (32)

Interest Recognised - 54 - 54

Reductions arising from payments (3,899) - (3,899) -

Transfer (to) / from Non-current - (719) - (271)

Balance at 30 June 2007 47 1,041 47 748

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The aggregate employee entitlement

liability recognised and included in the

Financial Statements is as follows:

Current 13 1,990 1,741 1,565 1,375

Non-current 13 152 330 152 330

2,142 2,071 1,717 1,705

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

No. No. No. No.

Number of employees at the end of the financial year 176 151 58 51
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

15. ISSUED CAPITAL

Issued Capital

57,496,753 (2006: 49,499,587) 

ordinary shares fully paid 44,252 22,440 44,252 22,440

5,715,486 (2006: 6,331,152) 

ordinary shares partly paid 910 1,002 910 1,002

45,162 23,442 45,162 23,442

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital

from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not

have a par value.

2007 2006

No. No.

('000) ($'000) (‘000) ($'000)

Fully paid ordinary share capital

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 49,500 22,440 49,022 21,981

Issue of shares as part consideration for acquisition 

of investment securities 3,250 9,100 - -

Share placement of fully paid ordinary shares 3,900 11,667

Issue of shares due to exercise of options under

employee share option plan (Note 23) 231 707 210 312

Partly paid shares paid up 616 338 268 147

57,497 44,252 49,500 22,440

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share 

and carry the entitlement to dividends. 

Partly paid ordinary share capital

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 6,331 1,002 6,249 936

Converted to fully paid shares (i) (616) (92) (268) (39)

Issue of Unlisted Partly Paid Shares (ii) - - 350 105

Balance at the end of the financial year 5,715 910 6,331 1,002

(i) Listed partly paid ordinary shares are paid to $0.60 with $0.40 outstanding. Of this amount $0.15 is allocated to partly

paid share capital. The partly paid shares carry full dividend entitlement but proportional voting rights. 

(ii) 350,000 Unlisted partly paid ordinary shares are paid to $0.30 with $3.30 outstanding. $0.30 is allocated to partly paid

capital.

Share Options

In accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option Scheme, as at 30 June 2007, employees have outstanding

options over 1,175,000 ordinary shares in aggregate. Full details of the scheme are contained in Note 23 to the Financial

Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

16. RESERVES

(a) OPTION PREMIUM RESERVE:

Balance at beginning of financial year 1,051 228 1,051 228

Share based payments 554 824 554 824

Transfer to Share Capital (246) - (246) -

Transfer to retained earnings (1) (34) - (34) -

Balance at the end of the financial year 1,325 1,051 1,325 1,051

The Option Premium Reserve arises due to the grant of share options under the Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option

Scheme and issues of securities at a premium or discount by the Company. amounts are transferred out of the reserve and

into issued capital when the options or other securities are exercised or fully paid up. Further information about share-based

payments to employees is made in Note 23 to the financial statements. 

(1) Transfer to retained earnings results from the lapse or cancellation of options expensed as share based payments in previous

years.

(b) AVAILABLE FOR SALE RESERVE:

Balance at beginning of financial year 341 - 341 -

Valuation gain/(loss) recognised 11,366 341 11,366 341

Balance at the end of the financial year 11,707 341 11,707 341

The Available for Sale Reserve arises on the revaluation of available for sale financial assets. When a revalued financial asset

is sold, the portion of the reserve which relates to the financial asset, and is realised, is recognised in the profit or loss. Where

a revalued financial asset is impaired, that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset is recognised in the

profit and loss. Valuation gains / (losses) are net of applicable income taxes.

(c) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE:

Balance at beginning of financial year 1,804 1,016 - -

Translation of foreign operations 491 788 - -

Balance at the end of the financial year 2,295 1,804 - -

Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Consolidated Entity’s foreign controlled

entities into Australian dollars are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve, as

described in Note 1(n).

TOTAL RESERVES 15,327 3,196 13,032 1,392

17. RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 32,453 20,095 30,463 18,734

Transfer from Option Premium Reserve 34 - 34 -

Net profit attributable to members of the parent entity 20,100 15,956 19,431 15,327

Dividends provided for or paid (3,913) (3,598) (3,913) (3,598)

Balance at the end of the financial year 48,674 32,453 46,015 30,463
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CONSOLIDATED

2007 2006

Cents Per Cents Per

Share Share

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 34.5 28.8

Diluted earnings per share 34.4 28.7

(a) BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares 

used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows: 
2007 2006

($'000) ($’000)

Earnings (i) 20,100 15,956

2007 2006

No. No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (ii) 58,259,251 55,391,125

(i) Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share reconciles to net profit in the Income Statement.
(ii) Options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares used

in the calculation of basic earnings per share, where dilutive, potential ordinary shares are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share.
(Refer to Note 18(b))

(b) DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows: 

2007 2006

($'000) ($’000)

Earnings (i) 20,100 15,956

2007 2006

No. No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and

potential ordinary shares (ii) 58,469,748 55,615,673

(i) Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the net profit in the Income Statement.
(ii) Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the

weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic EPS 58,259,251 55,391,125

Employee options 210,497 224,548

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential 

ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted EPS (iii) 58,469,748 55,615,673

The following potential ordinary shares are not dilutive and are therefore 

excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 

the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 

Employee options 964,503 1,230,952

(iii) Weighted average number of converted, lapsed, or cancelled potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share: Nil
(2006: Nil)
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2007 2006

Cents per Total Cents per Total

Share ($’000) Share ($’000)

19. DIVIDENDS AND FRANKING CREDITS

Final dividend – franked at 30%

paid October 2006 (previous October 2005) 7.0 3,913 6.5 3,598

The Directors have declared a dividend for the 2007 year of 7.5 cents per share, fully franked. The books closing date is 21

September 2007 and the dividend is payable on 8 October 2007 (Refer Note 31.)

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Adjusted franking account balance at 30% 4,057 2,502 4,057 2,502

20. DIRECTOR AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

a) The following persons were Directors of Troy Resources NL during the financial year were:

• J L C Jones (Chairman)

• T D McKeith (Chief Executive Officer) 

• K K Nilsson (Director - Operations)

• D E Clarke (Non-Executive)

• P A K Naylor (Non-Executive)

• J A S Dow (Non-Executive)

(b) Other Key Management Personnel

The following persons were also Key Management Personnel of Troy Resources NL during the financial year:

• P J Doyle (Vice President – Exploration and Business Development) 

• K D Ross (Operations Manager – Australia)

• G F Kaczmarek (Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer)

• G E Cheong (Registered Mine Manager until 7 December 2006)

• G F Brennan (Registered Mine Manager from 8 December 2006, previously Assistant Mine Manager)

(c) Key Management Personnel Compensation

The aggregate compensation of the Key Management Personnel in the consolidated entity and the company is set out

below:

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Short-term employee benefits 2,063,886 1,904,037 2,063,886 1,904,037

Post-employment benefits 269,962 271,211 269,962 271,211

Share-based payments 423,532 637,868 423,532 637,868

2,757,380 2,813,116 2,757,380 2,813,116
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As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, The Company has disclosed information about the compensation of

Key Management Personnel (“Compensation Disclosures”), as required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to Aus 25.7.2 of Accounting

Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures under the heading “Remuneration Report” on pages 41 to 48 of the Directors

Report and not in the financial report.

(d) Equity Instruments Disclosure Relating to Key Management Personnel

(i) Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of those shares options, together with the terms

and conditions of the options, can be found in Section E of the Remuneration Report on page 47.

(ii) Options and Shares held in the company by Key Management Personnel during the financial year area set out in

Note 22 - Related Party Transactions.

(e) Loans to Key Management Personnel

There were no loans to Key Management Personnel during the current or prior financial year.

(f) Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel

There were no other transactions entered into during the current financial year with Key Management Personnel other

than those set out in Note 22 – Related Party Transactions.

The Company has no contingent liability for termination benefits under service agreements with Key Management

Personnel of the Company, at balance date.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($) ($) ($) ($)

21. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

(a) PAID OR PAYABLE TO DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

IN AUSTRALIA:

Audit of the financial report 138,114 106,873 138,114 106,873

Toronto Stock Exchange Listing Review 40,000 - 40,000 -

178,114 106,873 178,114 106,873

(b) PAID OR PAYABLE TO OVERSEAS ASSOCIATES 

OF DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU:

Audit of the financial report 132,683 76,578 - -

Tax services - 2,423 - -

132,683 79,001 - -

310,797 185,874 178,114 106,873

No other benefits were received by the Auditor.
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) SUBSIDIARIES

The ultimate parent entity of the group is Troy Resources NL. Since 30 September 1999, no interest or management fees

have been charged to other wholly-owned group companies except those incorporated in Brazil which are classified as self-

sustaining entities. 

Details of the ownership of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 27 to the Financial Statements.

Details of interests in joint ventures are disclosed in Note 30 to the Financial Statements.

Subsidiary company transactions and balances included in the Financial Statements (in the notes as referenced) are as

follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

Notes 2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Custom milling fee 3 - - - 1,038

Other fees and charges 3 - - - 51

Non-current receivables - - 1,724 2,181

Non-current payables - - - -

Dividends received or due 3 - - 4,519 8,718

Current receivables - - - 43

Troy Resources NL owns and operates the Sandstone Mill. Under a Custom Milling Agreement, Troy charges its wholly owned

subsidiary, Wirraminna Gold NL, a fee for its share of ore milled from the Bulchina Mine, which is a 40:60 Joint Venture

between the parties.

(b) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, The Company has disclosed information about the compensation of

Key Management Personnel (“Compensation Disclosures”), as required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to Aus 25.7.2 of Accounting

Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures under the heading “Remuneration Report” on pages 41 to 48 of the Directors

Report and not in the financial report.

Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options can be found in Section E of

the Remuneration Report, on page 47 of this Annual Report.

The value of share-based payments in the remuneration tables has been calculated by an independent financial services

provider using the Binomial Valuation Model.
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Aggregate numbers of fully paid and partly paid shares and share options of Troy Resources NL held directly, indirectly or

beneficially by Key Management Personnel or their related parties at balance date is:

(i) Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Troy Resources NL:

Balance Granted Received on Net Balance Balance

at as Exercise Other at Held

1.7.06 Remuneration of Options Change 30.6.07 Nominally

2007 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

J L C Jones 8,583,209 - - (26,000) 8,557,209 7,638,209

T D McKeith - - - - - -

K K Nilsson 91,252 - - (21,000) 70,252 -

P A K Naylor 190,500 - - - 190,500 -

D E Clarke 310,000 - - - 310,000 -

J A S Dow - - - 20,000 20,000 -

Other Key Management Personnel

P J Doyle - - - - - -

K D Ross 5,000 - - - 5,000 -

G E Cheong 400 - - (400) - -

G F Kaczmarek 167,000 - - - 167,000 -

G K Brennan - - - - - -

TOTAL 9,347,361 - - (27,400) 9,319,961 7,638,209

Balance Granted Received on Net Balance Balance

at as Exercise Other at Held

1.7.05 Remuneration of Options Change 30.6.06 Nominally

2006 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

J L C Jones 8,583,209 - - - 8,583,209 7,664,209

T D McKeith - - - - - -

K K Nilsson 160,000 - - (68,748) 91,252 -

P A K Naylor 241,679 - - (51,179) 190,500 -

D E Clarke 310,000 - - - 310,000 -

J A S Dow - - - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel

P J Doyle - - - - - -

K D Ross 5,000 - - - 5,000 -

G E Cheong 6,500 - - (6,100) 400 -

G F Kaczmarek 130,000 - 117,000 (80,000) 167,000 -

L J Skotsch 60,000 - 30,000 (70,000) 20,000 -

TOTAL 9,496,388 - 147,000 (276,027) 9,367,361 7,664,209
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS Continued

(ii) Partly paid ordinary shares issued by Troy Resources NL:

Balance Granted Received on Net Balance Balance

at as Exercise Other at Held

1.7.06 Remuneration of Options Change 30.6.07 Nominally

2007 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

J L C Jones 1,896,025 - - (15,200) 1,880,825 1,777,025

T D McKeith 350,000 - - - 350,000 350,000

P A K Naylor 81,000 - - - 81,000 -

Other Directors & Key 

Management Personnel - - - - - -

TOTAL 2,327,025 - - (15,200) 2,311,825 2,127,025

Balance Granted Received on Net Balance Balance

at as Exercise Other at Held

1.7.05 Remuneration of Options Change 30.6.06 Nominally

2006 No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

J L C Jones 1,896,025 - - - 1,896,025 1,792,225

T D McKeith - 350,000 - - 350,000 350,000

P A K Naylor 115,400 - - (34,400) 81,000 -

Other Directors & Key 

Management Personnel - - - - - -

TOTAL 2,011,425 350,000 - (34,400) 2,327,025 2,142,225
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(iii) Executive Share Options issued by Troy Resources NL:

Balance Granted Balance Balance Vested Vested Options

at as Exercised Other at Vested at but not and Vested

1.7.06 Remuneration Exercised Price Change 30.6.07 30.6.07 Exerciseable Exerciseable during Year

2007 No. No. No. ($) No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

T D McKeith 500,000 - - - - 500,000 166,667 - 166,667 166,667

J A S Dow 60,000 - - - - 60,000 20,000 - 20,000 20,000

Other Directors - - - - - - - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel

P J Doyle 300,000 - - - - 300,000 100,000 - 100,000 100,000

K D Ross 75,000 - - - - 75,000 25,000 - 25,000 25,000

G E Cheong - - - - - - - - - -

G F Kaczmarek 33,000 - - - - 33,000 33,000 - 33,000 33,000

G K Brennan - - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL 968,000 - - - - 968,000 344,667 - 344,667 344,667

Balance Granted Balance Balance Vested Vested Options

at as Exercised Other at Vested at but not and Vested

1.7.05 Remuneration Exercised Price Change 30.6.06 30.6.06 Exerciseable Exerciseable during Year

2006 No. No. No. ($) No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

T D McKeith - 500,000 - - - 500,000 - - - -

J A S Dow - 60,000 - - - 60,000 - - - -

Other Directors - - - - - - - - - -

Other Key Management Personnel

P J Doyle - 300,000 - - - 300,000 - - - -

K D Ross - 75,000 - - - 75,000 - - - -

G E Cheong - - - - - - - - - -

G F Kaczmarek 150,000 - 50,000 1.45 - - - - 83,000

67,000 1.52 - 33,000 - - -

L J Skotsch 60,000 - 30,000 1.52 - 30,000 - - - 30,000

TOTAL 210,000 935,000 147,000 - - 998,000 - - - 113,000

There were no employee share options issued to Directors or other Key Management Personnel during the year, under the

Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option Scheme. 

Each share option converts into one ordinary share in Troy Resources NL on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by

the recipient on the grant or vesting of the option. 

During the year, 231,500 (2006: 147,000) options were exercised by Key Management Personnel for 231,500 (2006: 147,000)

ordinary shares in Troy Resources NL. No amounts remain unpaid on the options exercised.

Further details of the Troy Resources NL Employee Share Option Scheme are contained in Note 23 and details of the

remuneration of Key Management Personnel are contained in the Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report.
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS Continued

(c) OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

(i) Mr J L C Jones

Mr J L C Jones, the Chairman, is a director of and related to a number of entities, where he has significant influence over the

financial or operating policies of those entities, which entered into various commercial transactions with the Company.

The terms and conditions of these transactions with those related parties were no more favourable than those available, or

which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-related parties on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to those related parties were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Transaction description:

Office rental and associated costs 229,485 215,861 229,485 215,861

Material handling contracts at mine site 15,348,548 12,394,952 15,348,548 12,394,952

Sale of diesel fuel for mine site contracts (164,063) (294,174) (164,063) (294,174)

Other miscellaneous services 7,989 9,295 7,989 9,295

(ii) Mr P A K Naylor

Mr P A K Naylor, a Non-Executive Director, is also an employee of a major broking firm, which has performed certain service

transactions by contract for the Company.

The terms and conditions of these transactions with that related party were no more favourable than those available, or which

might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-related parties on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to that director-related entity were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Transaction description:

Brokerage fees 36,299 4,535 36,299 4,535

(iii) Dr D E Clarke

Dr D E Clarke, a Non-Executive Director, was engaged by the Company to perform consulting work.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year were as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Transaction description:

Consulting fees - 54,826 - 54,826

This amount has been included as part of Dr Clarke’s Primary Remuneration under “Fees” in the Remuneration Report within

the Directors’ Report.

(iv) Aminta Pty Ltd

Mr J L C Jones is a director of Aminta Pty Ltd, a company which has entered into several joint venture agreements with the

Company to explore certain mineral leases. Details of interests in these joint ventures are included in Note 30.
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(v) Anglo Australian Resources NL

Mr JLC Jones is a Non-Executive Director and Chairman and Dr DE Clarke is also a Non-Executive Director of Anglo

Australian Resources NL. During the year, employees of Troy Resources NL provided consulting services at normal

commercial rates for the aggregate amounts as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

$ $ $ $

Transaction description:

Consulting fees 76,754 609 76,754 609

23. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME 

The Employee Share Option Scheme was approved at an Annual General Meeting on 19 November 1993 and amended at

the Annual General Meetings of 24 October 1996 and 23 November 1998.

Options issued under the Scheme are issued on the following terms:

(a) to employees or Directors of the Company or any Associated Body Corporate;

(b) the number of options outstanding and shares issued under the Plan in the last five years cannot exceed 7% of issued

shares;

(c) issue cost is nil;

(d) the exercise price shall be the greater of 20 cents and 80% of the weighted average price for all shares in the Company

traded on the ASX during the five trading days preceding the date of the offer of options;

(e) each grant of options is split into three approximately equal portions. The first third vests on the first anniversary of the

grant date, the second third on the second anniversary of the grant date and the final third on the third anniversary of

the grant date. All options expire on the fourth anniversary of the grant date;

(f) options carry no voting rights, and no rights to dividends;

(g) options may be exercised at any time from the date on which they vest to the expiry date;

(h) options expire when the option holder ceases to be employed by the Company unless the Directors, in their sole

discretion due to extenuating circumstances, determine otherwise; and options are issued at the discretion of the

Directors who take into account the length of service of the recipient.

No options were issued under the employee share option scheme during the year ended 30 June 2007.

During the previous year, 560,000 options were issued to Directors and 375,000 options to other Key Management Personnel

of the Company.

In the table below, fair value of consideration received is measured as the nominal value of cash receipts on conversion. The

fair value of shares at the date of their issue is measured as the weighted average price for all shares in the Company traded

on the ASX during the five trading days preceding the date of their grant.

The difference between the total market value of options issued during a financial year, at the date of issue, and the total

amount received under the Scheme is not recognised in the Financial Statements except for the purposes of determining

Directors’ and executives’ remuneration in respect of that financial year as disclosed in the Remuneration Report within the

Directors’ Report. The amounts are disclosed in remuneration in respect of the financial year over which the entitlement was

earned.

Consideration received on the exercise of employee options is recognised in contributed equity. During the financial year

$460,145 (2006: $312,200) was recognised in contributed equity arising from the exercise of employee options. 
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23. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME Continued

2007 YEAR
Month Balance Number of Number Proceeds

of at Beginning Options Exercised Exercise Exercise Received

Issue of Year Issued Current Year Date Price ($)

April 2006 500,000 - - - $2.39 -

Feb 2006 215,000 - - - $2.42 -

July 2005 300,000 - - - $1.86 -

Feb 2005 180,000 - 22,000 12 Feb 2007 $2.45 53,900

Jun 2004 37,500 - 37,500 29 Mar 2007 $2.23 83,625

Mar 2004 100,000 - 100,000 29 Mar 2007 $2.15 215,000

Aug 2003 97,000 - 6,000 29 Jan 2007 $1.52 9,120

30,000 21 Sept 2006 $1.52 45,600

10,000 5 Sept 2006 $1.52 15,200

Aug 2002 26,000 - 26,000 9 Aug 2002 $1.45 37,700

1,455,500 - 231,500 460,145

The weighted average fair value share price of options on date of exercised during the period was $2.98.

Inputs used in the valuation model for share based payment arrangements which were entered into during the year.

Share-based payments have been valued by an independent financial services provider using the Binomial Valuation Model. 

The following input parameters have been used in determining the value of share-based payments:

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

Number Expected Current Risk

Expiration of Vesting Exercise Share Exercise Dividend Free “Fair

Grant Date Date Securities Date Date(1) Price(2) Price Yield(3) Rate(4) Volatility(5) Value”

18 Jul 05 18 July 09 100,000 18 July 06 18 Jan 08 2.29 1.86 2.80% 5.18% 42% 0.79

100,000 18 July 07 18 July 08 2.29 1.86 2.80% 5.18% 42% 0.83

100,000 18 July 08 18 Jan 09 2.29 1.86 2.80% 5.18% 46% 0.91

17 Feb 06 17 Feb 10 25,000 17 Feb 07 18 Aug 08 2.98 2.42 2.16% 5.16% 42% 1.05

25,000 17 Feb 08 16 Feb 09 2.98 2.42 2.16% 5.16% 40% 1.08

25,000 17 Feb 09 18 Aug 09 2.98 2.42 2.16% 5.16% 41% 1.15

3 Apr 06 3 Apr 10 166,667 3 Apr 07 2 Oct 08 3.05 2.39 2.11% 5.32% 42% 1.13

166,666 3 Apr 08 3 Apr 09 3.05 2.39 2.11% 5.33% 40% 1.16

166,666 3 Apr 09 2 Oct 09 3.05 2.39 2.11% 5.33% 40% 1.20

18 May 06 17 Feb 10 73,500 17 Feb 07 18 Aug 08 2.80 2.42 2.29% 5.64% 36% 0.82

46,500 17 Feb 08 16 Feb 09 2.80 2.42 2.29% 5.65% 41% 0.94

26,000 17 Feb 09 18 Aug 09 2.80 2.42 2.29% 5.66% 40% 0.98

Valuation of Partly Paid Shares

3 Apr 06 3 Apr 11 350,000 3 Apr 06 3 Apr 11 3.05 3.30 2.11% 5.34% 45% 1.01
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Fair Value on Number Lapsed/ Outstanding Number

Date of Exercise Cancelled at Balance Vested at Exercise Expiry

($) During Year Date Balance Date Period Date

- - 500,000 166,667 April 2007 - April 2010 3 April 2010

- - 215,000 98,500 Feb 2007 - Feb 2010 17 Feb 2010

- - 300,000 100,000 July 2006 - July 2009 18 July 2009

61,226 43,000 115,000 77,000 Feb 2006 - Feb 2009 25 Feb 2009

121,388 - - - Jun 2005 - Jun 2008 7 Jun 2008

323,700 - - - Mar 2005 - Mar 2008 16 Mar 2008

16,446 6,000 45,000 45,000 Aug 2004 - Aug 2007 29 Aug 2007

73,500

25,860

67,548 - - -

689,668 49,000 1,175,000 487,167

Page 85

Notes:

1. The expected exercise date is assumed to be the mid point between the vesting date and the expiry date. 

2. The current share price is the closing market price on the ASX as of the issue date of the Options, and the closing market

price as of the issue date of the partly paid shares for the Implied Options.

3. The dividend yield is the annualised gross percentage yield continuously compounded and sourced from Bloomberg.

4. The risk free rate is the implied yield on zero-coupon Australian government bonds, at the issue date, continuously

compounded, corresponding to the expected life of the Options and the Implied Options.

5. The Volatility factor is based on the historical volatility observed for Troy Resources, as per Bloomberg, corresponding to the

expected life for the Options and the Implied Options. 
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2007 2006

Weighted Weighted 

Average Average 

Exercise Exercise

No. Price $ No. Price $

Balance at beginning of year 1,455,500 2.20 650,000 1.90

Granted during the year - - 1,015,000 2.24

Exercised during the year (231,500) 1.99 (210,000) 1.49

Lapsed during the year (49,000) 2.34 - -

Balance at end of year 1,175,000 2.23 1,455,500 2.20
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23. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME Continued

2006 YEAR
Month Balance Number of Number Proceeds

of at Beginning Options Exercised Exercise Exercise Received

Issue of Year Issued Current Year Date Price ($)

April 2006 - 500,000 - - $2.39 -

Feb 2006 - 215,000 - - $2.42 -

July 2005 - 300,000 - - $1.86 -

Feb 2005 180,000 - - - $2.45 -

Jun 2004 37,500 - - - $2.23 -

Mar 2004 100,000 - - - $2.15 -

Aug 2003 207,000 - 10,000 23 Sept 2005 $1.52 15,200

30,000 11 Oct 2005 $1.52 45,600

34,000 14 Dec 2005 $1.52 51,680

3,000 27 March 2006 $1.52 4,560

33,000 21 April 2006 $1.52 50,160

Aug 2002 126,000 - 10,000 23 Aug 2005 $1.45 14,500

5,000 2 Sept 2005 $1.45 7,250

50,000 28 Sept 2005 $1.45 72,500

30,000 17 Jan 2006 $1.45 43,500

5,000 22 May 2006 $1.45 7,250

650,500 1,015,000 210,000 312,200

The weighted average fair value share of options on date of exercised during the period was $2.94.
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A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

Fair Value on Number Lapsed/ Outstanding Number

Date of Exercise Cancelled at Balance Vested at Exercise Expiry

($) During Year Date Balance Date Period Date

- - 500,000 - April 2007 - April 2010 3 April 2010

- - 215,000 - Feb 2007 - Feb 2010 17 Feb 2010

- - 300,000 - July 2006 - July 2009 18 July 2009

- - 180,000 61,000 Feb 2006 - Feb 2009 25 Feb 2009

- - 37,500 25,000 Jun 2005 - Jun 2008 7 Jun 2008

- - 100,000 67,000 Mar 2005 - Mar 2008 16 Mar 2008

28,260 - 97,000 15,000 Aug 2004 - Aug 2007 29 Aug 2007

78,570

106,284

8,622

113,190

28,080 - 26,000 26,000 Aug 2003 - Aug 2006 10 Aug 2006

12,550

131,000

96,420

13,840

616,816 - 1,455,500

Page 87

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Page 88

24. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Consolidated Entity is involved in only one industry, namely mining and exploration with activities in Australia, South

America, Asia and Europe during the year.

Australia Asia South America Europe Elimination Consolidated

SEGMENT INFORMATION: 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENT $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

REVENUE

External sales 73,855 44,689 17,906 40,975 - - 91,761 85,664

Other revenue 4,519 8,719 - - (4,519) (8,719) - -

Total segment revenue 78,374 53,408 - - 17,906 40,975 - - (4,519) (8,719) 91,761 85,664

Unallocated revenue 2,899 4,052

Total consolidated 
revenue 94,660 89,716

RESULTS

Segment results 33,130 27,428 (1,608) (1,288) (131) 17,483 (34) (384) (4,519) (8,040) 26,838 35,199

Unallocated 
expenses/revenue 1,978 (3,450)

Consolidated entity 
profit before income tax 28,816 31,749

Income tax expense (7,356) (11,734)

Consolidated entity 
profit from ordinary 
activities 21,460 20,015

Extraordinary item - -

Net profit 21,460 20,015

ASSETS

Segment Assets 29,490 28,784 144 142 25,836 10,256 34 110 (11,720) (6,822) 43,784 32,470

Unallocated assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 47,303 33,397

Investment Securities 46,528 12,250

Total Assets 137,615 78,117

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 16,923 10,724 5,414 3,929 14,579 7,187 762 772 (11,720) (6,822) 25,958 15,790

Unallocated liabilities 1,214 1,284

Total liabilities 27,172 17,074

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

Acquisition of plant 
and equipment 2,020 4,453 51 40 529 2,512 - - - (294) 2,600 6,711

Acquisition of new 
mining properties 
(net of tax) - - - - 11,736 - - - - - 11,736 -

Expenditure on 
existing mining 
properties 189 466 - - 1,134 959 - - - - 1,323 1,425

Depreciation 2,813 2,123 27 - 945 1,284 - - (120) - 3,665 3,407

Amortisation 3,853 2,627 - - 275 1,102 - - - - 4,128 3,729

Non-cash expenses 2 138 - - - 200 - - 608 893 610 1,231
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25. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

(a) EXPLORATION COMMITMENTS

The Consolidated Entity has minimum statutory commitments as conditions of tenure of certain mining tenements. In

addition it has commitments to perform and expend funds towards retaining an interest in formalised agreements with joint

venture and prospective joint venture partners. Whilst these obligations may vary, the following is considered to be a

reasonable estimate of the minimum commitment projected to 30 June 2007 if it is to retain all of its present interests in

mining and exploration properties, within the context of existing joint ventures.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Due within 12 months 3,090 2,036 2,550 1,672

Due between 1 and 5 years 774 1,500 - 1,500

Includes: joint venture commitments

Due within 12 months 377 379 258 218

Due between 1 and 5 years 774 1,500 - 1,500

(b) CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure commitments contracted 

for as at the reporting date:

Due within 12 months 2,287 47 370 47

Includes: Joint venture commitments - - - -

The Consolidated Entity is obliged to spend money on mining areas to ensure sufficient rehabilitation of vegetation to satisfy

the requirements under various government Mining Acts and Regulations. This expenditure is provided for in the Financial

Statements in accordance with accounting policy 1(i) and detailed in Note 13.

The Consolidated Entity has given securities in the form of bank guarantees and sureties with various state government

mining departments to meet commitments for rehabilitation. (Refer Note 26.)

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no contingent liabilities other than:

(a) Bank Guarantees provided by financial institutions given to various State Departments of Mines and Energy and joint

venture partners to a total value of $2,048,815 (2006: $2,038,815). These are security amounts against breach of

environmental conditions and are not expected to be exercised in the normal course of business. Of these amounts

$284,690 (2006: $284,690) relates to Joint Venture activities; and

(b) General sureties given to various State Departments of Mines and Energy to a total value of $266,500 (2006: $146,500).

These are security amounts against breach of environmental conditions and are not expected to be exercised in the

normal course of business. Of these amounts $40,000 (2006: $30,000) relates to Joint Venture activities outside the

consolidated group.
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27. SUBSIDIARIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the following subsidiaries:

COUNTRY OF OWNERSHIP INTEREST

INCORPORATION 2007: % 2006: %

Parent Entity:

Troy Resources NL Australia

Subsidiaries:

Wirraminna Gold NL Australia 100 100

Troy Mongolia Alt Resources Mongolia 100 100

Ord Resources Ltd United Kingdom 100 100

• Ord Resources Finland Oy Finland 100 100

Troy Resources Brasil Participações Ltda Brazil 100 100

• Sertão Mineração Ltda Brazil 70 70

Troy Brasil Exploração Mineral Ltda Brazil 100 100

• Agreste Mineracao Ltda Brazil 100 100

• Cerado Mineracao Ltda Brazil 100 -

• Nortao Mineracao Ltda Brazil 100 -

Troy Resources Holdings BVI British Virgin Islands 100 -

• Reinarda Mineracao Ltda Brazil 100 -

28. ACQUISITION OF CONTROLLED ENTITIES

On 1 December 2006, the Group purchased 100% of the share capital of Agincourt Resources (Holdings) Limited (renamed

Troy Resources Holdings BVI), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, for cash consideration of US$10.14 million

of which US$1.0 million has been deferred until the completion of all transfers and approvals. Troy Resources Holdings BVI’s

only asset is all the shares in Agincourt Resources do Brasil Ltda (renamed Reinarda Mineracao Ltda), a company

incorporated in Brazil, which owns the mineral leases that comprise the Andorinhas Gold Project in Para state in Brazil. This

transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The net assets acquired in the business

combination are as follows:

Carrying Amount Fair 

before business Value Fair

combination Adjustments Value

$’000 $’000 $’000

Net Assets acquired

Cash and cash equivalents 57 - 57

Property, Plant & equipment 4,564 14,006 18,570

Trade & other payables (59) 57 (2)

Deferred tax liabilities - (5,565) (5,565)

13,060

Total Fair Value

Satisfied by:-

- Cash 11,587

- Deferred Settlement (Note 31.) 1,267

- Cost of Acquisition 206

Total Consideration 13,060

Included in the net profit for the year is a $28,000 loss attributable to the operations of the above subsidiaries since their

acquisition on 1 December 2006. The majority of expenditure incurred since acquisition of the Andorinhas project has been

capitalised to Mining properties. Had these acquisitions been effected 1 July 2006, the revenue of the consolidated entity

would not have changed and expenses would have increased by less than $100,000.
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29. DISPOSAL OF CONTROLLED ENTITY

During the previous year, a wholly owned subsidiary, Ord Resources GmbH, a company incorporated in Austria, was disposed

of to a non-associated outside party. The loss of $163,000 recognised on the sale of the subsidiary is recognised in the

Income Statement as a Loss from discontinuing operations.

30. JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS

The Consolidated Entity has interests in the following joint ventures:

Percentage Interest

Joint Venture Principal Activities 2007 2006

Blackman’s Exploration - 22.5

Bullfinch Copperhead Exploration 49 49

Bullfinch South (1) Exploration 57 57

Cornishman Production 49 49

Mt Magnet Road Exploration 90 90

Musgrave Range Exploration 50 50

Pilot Prospect (1) Exploration 56 56

Pilot South (1) Exploration 74 74

Three Rivers Exploration (diluting to 40%) 100 100

(1) Joint Venture in which Aminta Pty Ltd has an interest. (Refer Note 22(c)(iv)).

The joint ventures are not separate legal entities. They are contractual arrangements between the participants for the sharing

of costs and output and do not in themselves generate revenue and profit.

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

The activities of the joint ventures

included in the Company's results are:

Revenue - 1,546 - 2,726

Share of costs incurred by joint venture - (957) - (1,560)

Additional costs incurred by the Company - - - (26)

Net contribution/(cost) - 589 - 1,140

The Company’s direct and indirect interests in the mining joint venture net assets as summarised below are included in the

corresponding Balance Sheet items.

TOTAL ASSETS - - - -

TOTAL LIABILITIES - - - -

NET ASSETS - - - -

Troy Resources NL and its wholly owned subsidiary, Wirraminna Gold NL, are associated in a 40:60 joint venture with each

other in the Bulchina Mine. As this is fully internal, there is no joint venture for consolidation purposes. Accordingly, the assets

and liabilities of the joint venture are not included in the note disclosure above for the Consolidated Entity.

Additional information relating to Joint Ventures is in Notes 25 and 26. 
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31. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER BALANCE DATE

• The Company announced on 25 June 2007, that its Chief Executive Officer, Mr Tommy McKeith, had tendered his

resignation, effective 30 September 2007 and an extensive executive search was being undertaken for his replacement.

• On 5 July 2007, the Company announced that it was implementing an on-market share buy-back of up to 3,000,000 fully

paid ordinary shares. The buy-back is of unlimited duration.

• On 31 July 2007, the Company announced that it intended to seek a listing of its shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange

(“TSX”) in Canada. The Company will remain listed on the Australian Stock Exchange and be dual listed.

• Final transfers and approvals on the purchase of the Andorinhas Project in Brazil have been completed and the deferred

settlement amount of US$1 million was paid on 31 July 2007.

• On 31 August 2007 the Directors declared a dividend of 7.5 cents per share fully franked. The dividend is payable on

both the fully paid and partly paid shares as the latter carry full dividend entitlements. The record date for the dividend

will be 21 September 2007 and will be paid on 8 October 2007. 

• On 31 August 2007 the Directors declared a Bonus Share issue of 1 new fully paid share for each 25 fully paid shares

held in the company at the book closing date of 8 October 2007. Partly paid shares will participate in the bonus issue in

proportion to the amount paid up on their relevant partly paid shares. The bonus shares are not entitled to participate

in the dividend declared for 21 September 2007 above.

• On 12 September 2007 the Company announced the appointment of Mr Paul Benson as Chief Executive Officer

effective 3 October 2007. Mr Benson’s was most recently Chief Development Officer for BHP Billiton Base Metals

Division. Mr Benson is an Australian who has been employed with BHP Billiton for the last 7 years and will relocate to

Perth from Santiago, Chile, where he has been based since 2004. Mr Benson has a Bachelor of Science in Geology and

Exploration Geophysics and a Bachelor of Engineering in Mining, both from the University of Sydney, and a Sloan

Masters of Science in Management from the London Business School.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of

measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, are disclosed in Note 1 to the Financial

Statements.

(b) OBJECTIVES OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Consolidated Entity enters into derivative financial instruments from time to time in the normal course of business in

order to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in the Australian dollar/US dollar gold price, and Australian dollar/US dollar

exchange rate. The Consolidated Entity does not enter into or trade derivative financial instruments for speculative

purposes.

(c) GOLD AND FOREIGN CURRENCY CONTRACTS

The Consolidated Entity had no gold hedging contracts outstanding as at 30 June 2007. 

As at 30 June 2006, the Consolidated Entity had outstanding gold hedging contracts for 10,000 ounces of gold with a

delivery date of 29 December 2006 at a price of A$700 per ounce. The Consolidated Entity’s policy is generally not to hedge

the price of gold but when deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors does allow it to hedge a portion of expected gold

production to secure its mining operations. 

There were no foreign currency hedge contracts outstanding at the end of either of the 2007 or 2006 financial years.
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(d) CREDIT RISK EXPOSURES

The credit risk on financial assets of the Consolidated Entity which have been recognised on the Balance Sheet, other than

investment in shares, is generally the carrying amount, net of any allowances for doubtful debts. Equity investments which

are traded on organised stock markets will vary with market movements. 

The Consolidated Entity has an exposure to gain or loss in the event counterparties fail to settle on contracts with the

Consolidated Entity. At 30 June 2007, the Consolidated Entity had no exposure or commitments to any counterparty (2006:

Nil).

(e) INTEREST RATE RISK EXPOSURE

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of

financial assets and financial liabilities is set out below. Exposure mainly arises from assets and liabilities bearing variable

interest rates.

2007 Floating 1 Year Over More than Non-interest

Notes Interest Rate or Less 1-5 Years 5 Years Bearing Total

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Financial Assets

Cash 6 8,124 39,179 - - - 47,303

Receivables 7 - - - - 1,469 1,469

Other Financial Assets – Curr. 8 - - - - 6,637 6,637

Other Financial Assets – N.C. 8 - - - - 39,925 39,925

Total 8,124 39,179 - - 48,031 95,334

Weighted Average Interest Rate

• Cash at bank Range: 0.01% p.a. to 6.20% p.a. depending on bank balance and account type.

• Cash at deposit A$ 6.15% p.a. 6.27% p.a. - - - -

• Cash on deposit US$ 4.50% p.a.

Financial Liabilities

Payables 12 - - - - 4,950 4,950

Employee Entitlements 14 - - - - 2,142 2,142

Dividend 13 - - - - 47 47

Rehabilitation 13 - - - - 1,760 1,760

Deferred Settlement - - - - 1,167 1,167

Total - - - - 10,066 10,066

Weighted Average Interest Rate

A$ Loans % - - -

US$ Loans % - - -

Net Financial Assets (Liabilities) 8,124 39,179 - - 37,965 85,268
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Continued

2006 Floating 1 Year Over More than Non-interest

Notes Interest Rate or Less 1-5 Years 5 Years Bearing Total

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Financial Assets

Cash 6 8,020 25,377 - - - 33,397

Receivables 7 - - - - 3,451 3,451

Other Financial Assets – Curr. 8 - - - - 1,434 1,434

Other Financial Assets – N.C. 8 - - - - 10,816 10,816

Total 8,020 25,377 - - 15,701 49,098

Weighted Average Interest Rate

• Cash at bank Range: 0.01% p.a. to 5.85% p.a. depending on bank balance and account type.

• Cash at deposit A$ 5.645% p.a. 5.833% p.a.

• Cash on deposit US$ 2.6% p.a.

Financial Liabilities -

Payables 12 - - - - 3,984 3,984

Employee Entitlements 14 - - - - 2,071 2,071

Dividend 13 - - - - 33 33

Rehabilitation 13 - - - - 1,292 1,292

Hedge Liabilities 1,284 1,284

Total 8,664 8,664

Weighted Average Interest Rate

A$ Loans %

US$ Loans %

Net Financial Assets (Liabilities) 8,020 25,377 - - 7,037 40,434

(f) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Financial Statements represents their

respective fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the Accounts.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and interest and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial

liabilities approximates their carrying value.

At 30 June 2007, inventories include 5,781 ounces (2006: 6,813) of refined gold bullion. This bullion is valued in the Financial

Statements at cost of $2,079,000 (2006: $3,291,000) (refer Note 8). This inventory would have had a market value of $4,390,700

(2006: $5,498,000) based on a gold spot price of A$759.50 per ounce (2006: A$807.00).

(g) LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing

facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.
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33. (a) RECONCILIATION OF CASH

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in interest

bearing deposits. Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related

items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

CONSOLIDATED COMPANY

2007 2006 2007 2006

($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)

Cash at bank 2,229 1,420 2,229 1,420

Cash at bank - overseas 5,895 6,600 37 36

Interest bearing deposits at call 39,179 25,377 39,179 25,377

47,303 33,397 41,445 26,833

(b) RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH PROVIDED BY 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES TO NET PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX

Reconciliation of Net Cash provided by Operating 

Activities to Net Profit after Income Tax

Operating profit after income tax 21,460 20,015 19,431 15,327

Depreciation of non-current assets 3,665 3,407 2,813 2,123

Amortisation of non-current assets 4,128 3,729 3,853 2,627

(Gain)/loss on revaluation to fair value through 

profit and loss of financial assets (54) (740) (54) (740)

(Gain)/loss on disposal of held for trading financial assets (286) 408 (286) 409

(Gain) on sale of non-current assets (46) (43) (1) -

Impairment of non-current assets 2 159 2 133

Write down of recoverable amount of loans to subsidiaries - - 4,533 1,343

Write down to recoverable amount of investment in subsidiary - - 108 356

Foreign exchange gain on currencies held 84 516 2 (70)

Loss on disposal of subsidiary - 163 - -

Equity settled share-based payment 554 824 554 824

Interest income received and receivable (2,128) (2,002) (1,626) (1,440)

Dividends received - - (4,519) (8,718)

Non-cash interest expense 54 69 54 57

Increase/(decrease) in income tax payable 3,416 6,618 5,905 4,852

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in current receivables 2,023 (1,385) (1) 1,645

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 1,743 (6,049) 1,363 (6,589)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions (166) 647 (102) 402

Increase/(decrease) in payables 935 (2,690) 300 (1,529)

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (1,384) 1,284 (1,284) 1,284

Net Cash generated by operating activities 34,000 24,930 31,045 12,296

(c) FINANCING FACILITIES

As at 30 June 2007, neither the Company nor any member of the Consolidated Entity has any financing facilities with any

bank or other financial institution.

(d) NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year 3,250,000 fully paid shares with a market value of $9,100,000 were issued as part consideration for the

purchase of investment securities.
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34. ADDITIONAL COMPANY INFORMATION

Troy Resources NL is a public company, incorporated and operating in Australia with subsidiary companies operating in Asia,

Europe and South America.

Registered Office Principal Place of Business

c/- Hayes Knight Melbourne Ground Floor

Level 6 44 Ord Street

31 Queen Street West Perth

Melbourne Western Australia 6005

Victoria 3000 Tel: (08) 9481 1277
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The Directors declare that:

1. In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the Financial Statements and notes of the Company and of the Consolidated Entity are in accordance with the

Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2007 and of

their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) comply with the Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due

and payable.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with

Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period ending 30 June 2007.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors of Troy Resources NL

J LC JONES T D McKEITH

CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Perth, Western Australia

21 September 2007

D I R E C T O R S ’  D E C L A R A T I O N
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This statement summarises the Corporate Governance policies and practices adopted by the Company. Troy’s objective is to

achieve best practice in Corporate Governance and the Company’s Directors and Officers are committed to meeting this

objective.

Additional information can be found on the Company’s website at www.try.com.au.

ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

The Company supports the principles espoused in the Corporate Governance and Principles and Recommendations” as issued

by the ASX Corporate Governance Council in August 2007. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

THE ROLE OF THE BOARD

The management and control of the business and affairs of the Company are vested in the Board of Directors. The Board sets

the direction and guides and monitors the business and affairs of the Company on behalf of shareholders, by whom the Directors

are elected and to whom they are accountable.

The primary functions of the Board include:

• developing and setting the Company’s strategic direction in conjunction with management;

• overall review of performance against targets and objectives;

• ensuring the Company has adequate systems and internal controls together with appropriate monitoring of compliance

activities; 

• approval and compliance with policies including health, safety and environment; and

• reporting to shareholders on the direction and performance of the Company.

Particular matters that are dealt with by the Board include significant investments, capital and funding proposals, mergers and

acquisitions, budgets and plans, financial results and performance, dividends and issues relating to internal controls and risk

management.

BOARD COMPOSITION

At 30 June 2007, the Board was comprised of six Directors, being three executive and three independent non-executive Directors.

The Board did not comprise a majority of independent Directors at that time.

Changes to the Board composition was made in October 2007 whereby the Board was increased to seven members with the

Chairman reverting to a Non-executive role. The Board is now composed of two executive directors and five non-executive

directors of whom four would be considered independent.

The Board is of the view that there was an appropriate balance between independent representation and maintaining sufficient

relevant experience for the Board to fulfil its objectives.

The Board considers that the number of Directors is appropriate for the scope and size of activities currently being undertaken

by the Company. 

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) were formally separated in April 2006 with the appointment of Mr T

D McKeith as a Director and CEO of the Company. Prior to this, Mr J L C Jones performed both roles. Mr Jones continued as the

Chairman and an executive of the Company until 3 October 2007 when be became Non-Executive Chairman.

The Constitution of the Company allows for the Board to be up to nine members.  A Director (other than the Managing Director

or CEO) may not retain office for more than three years without submitting for re-election.  At the Annual General Meeting each

year, one third of the Directors in office retires by rotation and must be re-elected by the shareholders if they are to continue as

a Director of the Company.

C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E

T R O Y  R E S O U R C E S  N L  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 7

Page 101

The Board meets on an “as required” basis, but at least three times a year in person with additional meetings being held by

telephone hook-up. On average the Board meets approximately 12 times per year.  The Board’s agenda is agreed by the

Chairman in conjunction with the CEO and the Company Secretary.  Directors receive reports on financial, exploration and

operational performance monthly and relevant additional papers for consideration in advance of each Board meeting.

Executives not on the Board are regularly involved in relevant Board discussions and Directors have the opportunity, both formal

and informal, for discussions with employees.  In consultation with the Chairman or CEO, Directors are able to access information

directly from management.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the operation and administration of the Company to the CEO who is responsible to

the Board. The CEO is assisted in his role through an Executive Committee. The Executive Committee currently includes the CEO

(Mr P Benson), the Director of Operations (Mr K K Nilsson), the Vice President – Exploration and Business Development (Mr P J

Doyle) and the Chief Financial Officer (Mr G F Kaczmarek).

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

All Directors have the right to seek independent professional advice concerning any aspect of the Company’s operations or

undertakings. Prior approval of the Chairman is required, but this is not to be unreasonably withheld. If the advice sought

concerns the Chairman or is related to the Chairman, then the approval can be provided by one of the independent directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has had a formally established Audit Committee since 1998. The committee currently consists of Dr D E Clarke

(Committee Chairman) Mr P A K Naylor, and Mr J A S Dow (who was appointed to the Committee on 24 January 2007) who are

all independent, non-executive Directors. 

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to review:

(a) the Financial Statements of the Company;

(b) the effectiveness of management information systems and systems of internal control;  and

(c) the efficiency and effectiveness of the external audit functions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration paid to Directors is set at a competitive level commensurate with the level of experience and qualifications of the

Directors within the capacity of the Company to provide.  A Remuneration Committee was constituted in 2004 to undertake the

review of executive remuneration including that of the executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee is composed of Dr D

E Clarke (Committee Chairman), Mr P A K Naylor and Mr J A S Dow (who was appointed to the Committee on 24 January 2007),

who are all independent, non-executive Directors. 

The remuneration of senior executives is also formulated by the Remuneration Committee whose decisions are guided by

industry conditions and industry remuneration surveys.  The remuneration of other employees is reviewed and recommended by

the relevant manager to the CEO and is ratified by the Remuneration Committee and the Board.

The Board believes that the issue of options to employees is an important part of their salary package.  Options allows employees

to participate in the ownership of the Company and enables the Company to supplement cash-based salary to better compete

for and retain skilled workers in the industry at a lesser cost to the entity.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A formalised Nomination Committee charter was adopted in 2004 for the review of composition of the Board, to make

recommendations on any changes to the Board and to select a CEO. To date, the size of the Board has allowed for the activities

of the Nomination Committee to be carried out by the full Board.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks are identified on a timely basis and that the Company’s objectives and activities

are aligned to minimising these risks. 

The Board monitors and receives advice on areas of operational, financial, political and asset risk and considers strategies for

appropriate risk management arrangements.  Specific areas of risk to the Company include foreign currency and commodity

price fluctuations, gold hedging strategies, tenement management, human resources, health and safety, the environment and

geographical and geopolitical locations.  

Some of the mechanisms in place to ensure that identified risks are properly managed include:-

• Board approval of a strategic plan which includes the Company’s vision and strategy;

• Implementation of approved operating plans and budgets and monitoring progress against these budgets in both a financial

and non-financial nature;

• The undertaking of a specific Group wide Business Risk Survey which will encompass the identifying of specific risks for the

Group, their likely impact and a specific plan and strategy to minimise these identified risks.

ETHICAL STANDARDS

The Board’s policy is that the Directors and management should conduct themselves with the highest ethical standards.  All

Directors and employees are expected to act with integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and

performance of the consolidated entity. A formal policy has been adopted by the Board as a guideline for the ethical activities

of both the Company and of management.

The Company is a voluntary signatory to the Australian Minerals Industry Code for Environmental Management. This includes

health, safety and environmental issues which should be of the highest standard and comply with the Company’s policies as

published in the manual “Environmental, Health, Safety and Community Report” and is available for review on the Company’s

website. These policies are applied on a Company wide basis in all geographical areas of activity, not just within Australia.

TRADING IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

The Board has adopted a policy in relation to the trading in the securities of the Company and has distributed these

recommendations in written form to all employees of the Company. The circular to employees describes what constitutes Insider

Trading, the penalties for undertaking such activities and makes recommendations on when employees should not trade in the

Company’s securities.

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

The Board is committed to ensuring that trading in the Company’s securities takes place in an informed market such that

shareholders and the investment community has confidence in the quality, timeliness and integrity of information provided by the

Company.

In accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the ASX Listing Rules, the Company has procedures in place to

ensure that all price sensitive information is identified, reviewed and, where applicable, disclosed to the ASX and shareholders

immediately.

The Company occasionally makes presentations at conferences and briefings to shareholders and analysts. On these occasions,

the Company takes care to ensure that no price sensitive information is included, or it is released to the market prior to the

conference/briefing. Conference presentations are usually released to the ASX and also posted on the Company’s website.
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RESPONSIBILITY TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are informed on all major aspects and developments affecting the Company and the

consolidated entity.  The Board distributes information via:

• continuous disclosure of information to the ASX;

• the Annual Report to shareholders;

• Quarterly Activities Reports;

• notices of meetings of shareholders;

• investor briefings and conference presentations;

• distribution to shareholders and other relevant bodies of the Company’s “Environmental, Health, Safety and Community

Report”; and

• all the above reports and other useful and relevant information are posted on the Company’s website on a timely basis.

ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

The table below contains a list of each of the ASX Best Practice Recommendations and whether the Company was in compliance

with the recommendations at the end of the year. Where the Company considers that it is divergent from these

recommendations, or that it is not practical to comply, there is an explanation of the Company’s reasons set out below the table:-

Compiled Note

1.1 Establish and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to management ✓

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives ✓

1.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 1 ✓

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent directors ✗ 1

2.2 The Chair should be an independent director ✗ 2

2.3 The roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual ✓

2.4 The Board should establish a Nomination Committee ✗ 3

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its committees and 
individual directors ✗ 4

2.6 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2 ✓

3.1 Establish a code of conduct, disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:

3.1.1 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity ✓

3.1.2 the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and 
the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders ✓

3.1.3 the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating 
reports of unethical practices ✓

3.2 Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, 
senior executives and employees ✓

3.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 3 ✓

4.1 The Board should establish an Audit Committee ✓

4.2 The Audit Committee should be structured so that it consists of:
• only Non-Executive Directors ✓

• a majority of independent Directors ✓

• an independent Chair who is not Chair of the Board ✓

• at least three members ✓

4.3 The Audit Committee should have a formal charter ✓

4.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4 ✓
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ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS Continued

Compiled Note

5.1 Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance 
and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies ✓

5.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 5 ✓

6.1 Design and disclose a communications policy for promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encourage their participation at general meetings ✓

6.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting Principle 6 ✓

7.1 Establish and disclose the policies for the oversight and management of material business risks ✓

7.2 Require management to design and implement risk management and internal control systems 
to manage the Company’s material business risks and report to the Board whether those 
risks are being managed effectively.  Disclose that management has reported to the Board 
as to the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks ✗ 5

7.3 Disclose if it has received assurances from the CEO (or equivalent) and the CFO (or equivalent) 
that the declaration provided in accordance with S.925A of the Corporations Act is founded 
on a sound system or risk management and internal controls and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks ✓

7.4 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 7 ✓

8.1 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee ✓

8.2 Clearly distinguish the structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration from that of Executives ✓

8.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 8 ✓

1. At 30 June 2007, only three (Messrs Clarke, Dow and Naylor) of the six Directors are independent. Subsequent to year

end, in October 2007, changes were made to the Board composition with the Chairman, Mr J L C Jones, becoming a Non-

Executive, and Mr T D McKeith being appointed a Non-Executive Director. Therefore, as of October 2007, the Board

comprises seven members of whom two are executives, and five are non-executive of whom four are classified as

independent.

2 . The Chairman is not an Independent Director. The Chairman, Mr J L C Jones, was an executive of the Company until

October 2007 when he reverted to a Non-Executive Chairman role. However, Mr Jones is a substantial shareholder in the

Company. The Board considers that the role of Mr Jones, who has been Chairman since 1988, is in the best interest of the

Company. He has over 40 years’ relevant industry experience, and his knowledge of the Company and his role in leading the

Company throughout a period of transition from a small exploration to successful mining company in recent years is viewed

positively by shareholders.

4. There is no separate Nomination Committee as a sub-committee. The functions to be performed by a nomination

committee under the ASX Best Practice Recommendations are currently performed by the full Board and this is reflected in

the written policy setting out the responsibilities of the Board.  Having regard to the number of members currently

comprising Troy’s Board, the Board does not consider it appropriate to delegate these responsibilities to a sub-committee

of the Board.  These arrangements will be reviewed periodically by the Board to ensure that they continue to be appropriate

to the Company’s circumstances.

5. Board performance evaluation is not disclosed. The performance of the Board is reviewed internally, but there are no formal

performance indicators that are applied to that review. Judgment of performance is based on many factors including

profitability, production levels and exploration success.

5. The Board has requested that a risk management profile and systems be prepared. As at the date of this report,

management has not completed the risk management review and has not delivered the final report to the Board.
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NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL

57,468,420 fully paid ordinary shares held by 2,012 Shareholders

5,360,486 partly paid ordinary shares (40 cents per share to be paid) held by 158 shareholders.  These partly paid shares currently

holds 0.6 of a voting right and have full dividend entitlements.

933,333 employee options over ordinary shares held by 7 option holders

350,000 partly paid ordinary shares ($3.30 per share to be paid) held by 1 shareholder.  These partly paid shares hold 0.083 of a

voting right and have full dividend entitlement.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Fully Paid Partly Paid Employee

Ordinary Ordinary Options

1 - 1,000 448 25 -

1,001 - 5,000 885 60 -

5,001 - 10,000 295 26 -

10,001 - 100,000 301 39 5

100,001and over 43 8 2

2,012 158 7

Holding less than a marketable parcel: 70 1 N/A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER
Number Voting 

of Person’s Power

Ordinary Shareholder Securities Votes Percentage

Warrigal Pty Ltd 10,689,033 9,685,704 15.95%

S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  S T A T I S T I C S  
at 28 September 2007
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS  

as at 28 September 2007

FULLY PAID PARTLY PAID

Ordinary Shareholders Number Percentage Number Percentage

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 9,393,307 16.35 1,072,303 20.00

National Nominees Limited 5,837,895 10.16 732,677 13.67

Warrigal Pty Ltd 4,590,000 7.99 1,360,539 25.38

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Ltd 3,906,959 6.80

Gold Fields Orogen Holding (BVI) Limited 3,010,000 5.24

ANZ Nominees Limited 2,839,508 4.94

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 2,831,302 4.93

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 1,514,542 2.64

Warrigal Pty Ltd 1,330,000 2.31

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 683,593 1.19

Mr John Load Cecil Jones 608,000 1.06

Arinya Investments Pty Ltd 562,500 0.98 112,500 2.10

L J Thomson Pty Ltd 433,258 0.75

Strath Dee Pty Ltd 430,000 0.75 100,000 1.87

Mr Bruce Clayton Bird 353,699 0.62

Mr John Load Cecil Jones 311,000 0.54 103,800 1.94

New Privateer Holdings Ltd 310,000 0.54

Mr Barton Cecil Jones 280,000 0.49 56,000 1.04

Mr Burchell Francis Jones 280,000 0.49 60,000 1.12

Noscita Dion Pty Ltd 250,000 0.44

Chalcott Nominees Pty Ltd 120,000 2.24

Jones Partners Pty Ltd 107,100 2.00

Bedel & Sowa Corp Pty Ltd 104,600 1.95

Mr Philip Alan Kenneth Naylor & Mrs Andrea Naylor 81,000 1.51

L J & K Thomson Pty Ltd 71,157 1.33

Kajam Pty Ltd 52,000 0.97

Emeritus E Commerce 50,000 0.93

Maminda Pty Limited 44,552 0.83

Coven-SA Ltd 40,000 0.75

Winterthur Life UK Limited 40,000 0.75

Mr William Jangsing Lee 37,000 0.69

Jash Pty Limited 36,000 0.67

TOTAL TOP 20 39,755,563 69.21 4,381, 228 81.74
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Directors

John L C Jones (Non-Executive Chairman)

Paul Benson (CEO)

Ken K Nilsson (COO)

Philip A K Naylor 

Denis E Clarke 

Tommy D McKeith 

John A S Dow 

Company Secretary

Gerard F Kaczmarek (CFO)

Executive Committee

Paul Benson

Peter J Doyle

Ken K Nilsson

Gerry Kaczmarek

Registered Office

c/- Hayes Knight Melbourne

Level 6, 31 Queen Street

Melbourne Victoria 3000

Telephone (03) 8613 8888

Principal Office

Ground Floor, 44 Ord Street

West Perth, Western Australia 6005

Telephone (08) 9481 1277

Facsimile (08) 9321 8237

Email troy@troyres.com.au

Web site www.try.com.au

Brazil Exploration Office

Rua Edgar Camelo No. 1 Downtown

City of Goiás Velho

Goiás, 76.600-000

Brazil

Augusto Mol

Director - Exploration South America

Telephone (55) 62 3371 2680

Facsimile (55) 62 3372 1441

C O R P O R A T E  D I R E C T O R Y

Mongolia Exploration Office

Troy Mongolia Alt Resources

7 Jamian Gunin Street

SBD-1, Ulaanbaatar 210648

Mongolia

Tserenjav Tsevegdoriin

Exploration Manager – Mongolia

Telephone (976) 11 317247, 317201

Facsimile (976) 11 317247

Stock Exchanges For Quoted Securities

Australian Stock Exchange

Fully Paid TRY

Partly Paid TRYCA

Frankfurt Stock Exchange, Germany

Fully Paid TRW

Share Registry

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street

Abbotsford, Victoria 3067 Australia

GPO Box 2975, Melbourne, Victoria 3001

Telephone (03) 9415 5000

Facsimile (03) 9473 2500

Investor inquiries within Australia 1300 850 505

Investor inquiries outside Australia (61 3) 9415 5000

Bankers

National Australia Bank Limited

Macquarie Bank Limited

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Woodside Plaza, Level 14

240 St Georges Terrace

Perth WA 6000

Legal Representative

Mallesons Stephen Jaques

Central Park, 152-158 St Georges Terrace

Perth Western Australia
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